

Brigham Young University BYU ScholarsArchive

Theses and Dissertations

2023-06-01

Mediators of the Insomnia-Suicidality Association

Zach Simmons Brigham Young University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarsarchive.byu.edu/etd

Part of the Family, Life Course, and Society Commons

BYU ScholarsArchive Citation

Simmons, Zach, "Mediators of the Insomnia-Suicidality Association" (2023). *Theses and Dissertations*. 10423.

https://scholarsarchive.byu.edu/etd/10423

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by BYU ScholarsArchive. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of BYU ScholarsArchive. For more information, please contact ellen_amatangelo@byu.edu.

Mediators of the Insomnia-Suicidality Association

Zach Simmons

A dissertation submitted to the faculty of Brigham Young University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Daniel B. Kay, Chair Melissa Jones Scott Baldwin Scott Braithwaite

Department of Psychology

Brigham Young University

Copyright © 2023 Zachary A. Simmons

All Rights Reserved

ABSTRACT

Mediators of the Insomnia-Suicidality Association

Zachary A. Simmons Department of Psychology, Brigham Young University Doctor of Philosophy

The severity of insomnia symptoms, including difficulty falling asleep and returning to sleep when awakened in the night, are major risk factors for more severe suicidality including suicidal ideation, suicide attempts, and death by suicide. There are several commonly observed gaps in the literature studying the association between insomnia and suicidality including little exploration of potential mediators, limited assessments of insomnia and suicidality, and a lack of sample diversity and representativeness. As such, the models that explain the association between insomnia and suicidality remain unclear and understudied. Evidence suggests that insomnia severity is related to suicidality severity, even when accounting for common risk factors of suicidality such as depression. Neurocognitive models propose that insomnia prevents natural recuperative functions of sleep, thereby contributing to daytime impairment such as emotion dysregulation. Joiner's suicide risk model may also outline potential psychosocial components that facilitate the association between insomnia and suicidality severity including thwarted belongingness and perceived burdensomeness. The purpose of this study is to investigate potential mediators that are associated with both insomnia severity and suicidality severity including emotion dysregulation, thwarted belongingness, and perceived burdensomeness with the use of validated measures in a nationally representative sample.

We collected data on demographics, insomnia severity, depression, anxiety, suicidality severity, emotional regulation, thwarted belongingness, and perceived burdensomeness from 428 participants through an online survey. Our first aim was to replicate previous findings of the insomnia-suicidality severity association through regression analyses between self-reported insomnia and suicidality severity whilst controlling demographic variables, self-reported depression severity, and self-reported anxiety severity. Our second aim is to understand the role emotion dysregulation, thwarted belongingness, and perceived burdensomeness play in the insomnia and suicidal severity association, even when accounting for depression, through testing our proposed mediation models using structural equation modeling.

Insomnia severity was related to greater suicidality, but not when accounting for depression severity. Emotion dysregulation and perceived burdensomeness partially mediated the association between insomnia severity and suicidality severity. When accounting for depression severity, emotion dysregulation and perceived burdensomeness fully mediated the association between insomnia severity and suicidality severity. Depression, perceived burdensomeness, and emotion dysregulation may explain the association between insomnia and suicidality severity. These difficulties may serve as potent markers for suicide risk and potential targets for treatment and suicide prevention.

Keywords: insomnia, suicidality, suicidal ideation, interpersonal theory of suicide, emotion regulation

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACTii
TABLE OF CONTENTS iv
LIST OF FIGURES vi
LIST OF TABLES
Mediators of the Insomnia-Suicidality Association1
Rationale1
Literature Review
Insomnia and Suicidality4
Insomnia 4
Suicidality Severity
Insomnia and Suicidality Severity
Emotion Dysregulation as a Potential Neurocognitive Explanation of the Insomnia and Suicidality Association
Interpersonal Needs as Potential Psychosocial Explanations of the Insomnia and Suicidality Association
Aims and Hypotheses
Aim 1
Hypothesis 1
Aim 2
Hypothesis 2a
Hypothesis 2b
Methods
Participants
Procedures
Measures17
Main Variables of Interest
Potential Confounding Variables
Analyses
Results
Aim 1
Hypothesis 1

Aim 2	
Hypothesis 2a	
Hypothesis 2b	
Discussion	
References	

LIST OF FIGURES

<i>Figure 1.</i> Uncontrolled Mediational Model for Emotion Regulation, Thwarted Belongingness, and Perceived Burdensomeness in the Insomnia-Suicidality Severity Association
<i>Figure 2</i> . Controlled Mediational Model for Emotion Regulation, Thwarted Belongingness, and Perceived Burdensomeness in the Insomnia-Suicidality Severity Association
Figure 3. Power analysis predicting power give total sample size
Figure 4. Power analysis predicting detectable effect sizes given total sample size

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1 - Demographic and psychological features across insomnia severity groups .	
Table 2 - Insomnia severity as a predictor of suicidality severity	

Mediators of the Insomnia-Suicidality Association

Rationale

Symptoms of insomnia, including difficulty going to sleep and going back to sleep when awakened in the night, are problems endorsed by nearly one-third of adults (American Psychiatric Association, 2013) and are commonly found in those who experience suicidality including suicidal ideation, suicide attempts, and death by suicide (Bernert et al., 2015; Roth, 2007). Concurrent with the rise in insomnia, the rate of suicide mortality in the United States has increased by 35% between 1999 and 2018 (Hedegaard et al., 2020). Given the association between symptoms of insomnia and suicidality, as well as the increased incidence rate of suicide, exploring potential mediators of the insomnia suicidality association may lead to a sleep-specific target for suicide prevention.

We propose three potential mediators that may play a role in the association of the insomnia-suicidality severity association: emotion dysregulation, thwarted belongingness, and perceived burdensomeness. Emotion regulation, as described by Gratz and Roemer (2004), is a multifaceted construct involving "the (a) awareness and understanding of emotions, (b) acceptance of emotions, (c) ability to control impulsive behaviors and behave in accordance with desired goals when experiencing negative emotions, and (d) ability to use situationally appropriate emotion regulation strategies flexibly to modulate emotional responses as desired in order to meet individual goals and situational demands" (p. 42). They further posit that the absence of any or all of these facets of emotion regulation indicates emotion dysregulation. Emotion dysregulation has been associated with both insomnia (Green et al., 2007; Jollant et al., 2011; Lanius et al., 2003; Mochcovitch et al., 2014) and suicidality (Anestis et al., 2011; Hatkevich et al., 2019; Heffer & Willoughby, 2018; Neacsiu et al., 2018; Rajappa et al., 2011)

and may play a role in the insomnia-suicidality association. The Joiner suicide risk model proposed several components that implicate risk for suicidality, including thwarted belongingness and perceived burdensomeness (Joiner, 2005; Van Orden et al., 2010). Thwarted belongingness is described as the basic human need of social connectedness being unmet and has been associated with insomnia (Chu et al., 2016; Chu et al., 2017; Hom et al., 2017) and suicidality (Barzilay et al., 2015; Christensen et al., 2013; Chu, Buchman-Schmitt, et al., 2017; Van Orden et al., 2006; Van Orden et al., 2008). Perceived burdensomeness is defined as one's perception of their burden on family members or other loved ones and has also been associated with insomnia (Hom et al., 2017; Hom et al., 2019) and suicidality (Barzilay et al., 2015; Christensen et al., 2013; Chu, Buchman-Schmitt, et al., 2017; Van Orden et al., 2006; Van Orden et al., 2008). These potential mediators warrant further investigation to understand the role they play in the insomnia-suicidality severity association.

This study aims to fill several commonly observed gaps in the literature on the association between symptoms of insomnia and suicidality. Many authors have suggested the importance of exploring other underlying causal factors (Franic et al., 2014; Hom et al., 2019; Woznica et al., 2015). Some authors have specifically recommended examining mediation of affective regulatory processes such as emotion regulation (Bozzay et al., 2016; Goldstein et al., 2008; Woosley et al., 2014), thwarted belongingness (Chu et al., 2016), and perceived burdensomeness (Hom et al., 2017; Nadorff et al., 2014) between insomnia and suicidality. Given that few models exist that attempt to explain the association between insomnia and suicidality, further investigation may inform targeted treatment for suicide prevention. In response to this gap in the literature, the current study aims to investigate emotion regulation,

perceived burdensomeness, and thwarted belongingness as previously sparsely explored potential mediators of the insomnia-suicidality association.

Several studies also noted being constrained by limited suicidality assessments (Bernert et al., 2015; Guo et al., 2017; Wong et al., 2016; Woosley et al., 2016) and insomnia assessments (Goldstein et al., 2008; Guo et al., 2017; Kay, Karim, et al., 2016; Kearns et al., 2018). Many cite the use of single-item assessments of these constructs as particularly problematic, as they may not fully or validly capture the constructs of interest. These authors suggest replication of their findings in the insomnia and suicidality association with validated measures that more accurately represent the constructs being tested. The use of one-to-few item measures with poor construct validity can be troublesome when interpreting findings and may introduce bias that limits the utility of the results. This study proposes the use of validated and widely used measures of suicidality and insomnia severity. Lastly, many authors point out the lack of diversity and representativeness of their samples (Becker et al., 2018; Chu, Hom, et al., 2017; Hom et al., 2019; Kearns et al., 2018; McCall et al., 2013) and recommend replication of their findings with more diverse and representative samples. Gathering a more diverse and representative sample will aid in preventing sampling bias and improve the generalizability of the findings.

In response to these gaps in the literature, this study collected validated measures of insomnia and suicidality severity in a large (n = 428), nationally representative sample to account for demographic variables and their association with symptoms of insomnia and suicidality to test potential mediators in this association. As insomnia is a common and modifiable risk factor for suicide, further investigation is needed to understand the nature of this relationship to inform effective targets of intervention for suicide prevention. This study aims to replicate previous findings of the insomnia and suicidality association while also filling gaps cited by previous

studies including investigating potential mediators for the insomnia and suicidality association that have received little attention, limited assessment of insomnia and suicidality, and lack of sample diversity and representativeness. Lastly, the models that explain the association between insomnia and suicidality remain unclear, and more research is needed to find potential neurocognitive and psychosocial mediators, such as emotion dysregulation, thwarted belongingness, and perceived burdensomeness in this relationship. The present study is needed as it aims to provide clarity on the relationship between insomnia and suicidality, informing effective treatment that may prevent suicide.

Literature Review

Insomnia and Suicidality

The relationship between symptoms of insomnia and suicidality has been specifically reported in peer-reviewed journals since at least 1975 (Barraclough & Pallis, 1975). In their meta-analysis of studies between 1975-2011 reporting on the relationship between sleep disturbance and suicidality, Pigeon et al. found overwhelming evidence suggesting that symptoms of insomnia are related to suicidal ideation and suicidal behavior (Pigeon et al., 2012). The following will briefly review the current literature concerning insomnia and suicidality as well as include an investigation of the association between symptoms of insomnia and suicidality.

Insomnia

Insomnia is a sleep disorder characterized by a marked difficulty with falling asleep, staying asleep, or waking up too early and being unable to return to sleep. To meet criteria for insomnia disorder, these sleeping difficulties must be associated with impairment in daily function and must occur at least 3 days a week, for at least 3 months. This persistent difficulty with sleep must not be associated with inadequate opportunity for sleep nor any medical condition or drug use (American Psychiatric Association, 2013). About one-third of adults report having some symptoms of insomnia, and 6-10% of adults meet criteria for insomnia disorder. Of those who meet criteria for insomnia disorder, 45-75% of those go on to experience chronic insomnia in 1–7-year follow-ups (American Psychiatric Association, 2013). Insomnia disorder is second only to all anxiety disorders combined in 12-month prevalence across all mental disorders (Wittchen et al., 2011). Further, recent estimates suggest that between 40-50% of patients with insomnia also have a comorbid mental disorder (American Psychiatric Association, 2013). Cognitive-behavioral therapy for insomnia (CBT-I) is the frontline treatment for insomnia disorder and has shown to be effective when compared to pharmacological interventions (Jacobs et al., 2004; Morin et al., 1999; Omvik et al., 2008; Sivertsen et al., 2006) and controls (Edinger et al., 2007; Okajima et al., 2011; van Straten et al., 2014) on randomized controlled trials. Further, there is evidence to suggest that treatment of insomnia through CBT-I can reduce symptomatology of other comorbid mental disorders (Ashworth et al., 2015; Cassidy-Eagle et al., 2018; Clarke et al., 2015; Steinan et al., 2014). In all, insomnia is a common and treatable sleep disorder that is associated with an increased risk for negative psychological outcomes.

Insomnia has been associated with certain neurocognitive and psychosocial outcomes such as emotion dysregulation, thwarted belongingness, and perceived burdensomeness. Evidence suggests that certain brain regions are not naturally recuperated in those who experience symptoms of insomnia as explained by the local sleep deprivation model (Kay et al., 2016). These brain regions have implications for daytime impairments, such as emotion regulation (Green et al., 2007; Jollant et al., 2011; Lanius et al., 2003; Mochcovitch et al., 2014).

Those who experience emotion dysregulation may lack executive resources to effectively manage difficult feelings and may fantasize about or seek alternative methods to escape them (e.g., suicidal ideation or suicidal behaviors). Further, previous research suggests that symptoms of insomnia are associated with thwarted belongingness (Chu et al., 2016; Chu et al., 2017; Hom et al., 2017). Those who experience symptoms of insomnia may experience increased loneliness due to being awake when others are typically asleep. Daytime impairment due to symptoms of insomnia may also lead to difficulty engaging in meaningful social connections and create a sense of thwarted belonging. Finally, some evidence suggests an association between symptoms of insomnia and perceived burdensomeness (Hom et al., 2017; Hom et al., 2019). Daytime impairments due to symptoms of insomnia may lead to difficulty in accomplishing tasks related to work, school, or home responsibilities. This may create a sense of perceived liability or burden in those who experience symptoms of insomnia. Emotion regulation, thwarted belongingness, and perceived burdensomeness are associated with insomnia and may serve as important components to understand the association between insomnia and suicidality.

Suicidality Severity

Suicidality severity refers to a continuum of suicidality that includes, in order of increasing severity, suicidal ideation, suicidal behavior, and death by suicide. Suicidal ideation, as described by Harmer et al. (2021) is, "contemplations, wishes, and preoccupations with death and suicide" (p. 1). For this study, suicidal ideation also includes effortful thought about how one may take their own life (i.e., suicide plans). We define suicidal behavior as preparations for, attempts of, and deaths by suicide. Across 17 countries and 84,850 adults, one study reported a 9.2 % lifetime prevalence of suicidal ideation, 3.1% suicidal plans, and 2.7% suicide attempts (Nock et al., 2008). Further, this study found that 60% of those who experience suicidal ideation

will attempt suicide within a year of suicidal ideation onset (Nock et al., 2008). In a study of 506 adolescents and young adults, Miranda et al. (2014) reported that suicidal ideation frequency uniquely predicted suicide attempts, even after controlling for mental health diagnoses and previous suicide attempts after a 4–6-year follow-up when compared with other dimensions of suicidal ideation. This evidence suggests that the frequency of suicidal ideation is a key indicator of suicidality severity. Crucial to the treatment of suicidality is recognizing and understanding the associated risk factors including history of suicide attempts, mental disorders, chronic pain, and family history of suicidality (National Institute of Mental Health, 2021). Further exploration of risk factors for suicidality, especially frequency of suicidal ideation, is needed to inform interventions for the prevention of suicide.

Like insomnia, suicidality has also been associated with emotion dysregulation, thwarted belongingness, and perceived burdensomeness. Studies have reported that emotion dysregulation is associated with suicidal ideation severity (Anestis et al., 2011; Heffer & Willoughby, 2018; Neacsiu et al., 2018; Rajappa et al., 2011) and suicidal ideation presence (Hatkevich et al., 2019). These findings suggest that those who have difficulty managing their negative emotions are at increased risk of experiencing suicidal ideation. Evidence also suggests that thwarted belongingness and perceived burdensomeness are associated with suicidal ideation severity (Barzilay et al., 2015; Christensen et al., 2013) and suicidal behavior (Chu, Buchman-Schmitt, et al., 2017; Van Orden et al., 2006; Van Orden et al., 2008). Thwarted belongingness and perceived burdensomeness may lead to increased social isolation, separating an individual from the social support that may meet their interpersonal needs and that may serve as a buffer against suicidality. Emotion dysregulation, thwarted belongingness, and perceived burdensomeness may have implications for suicidality and can potentially serve as targets for intervention of suicide prevention.

Insomnia and Suicidality Severity

Insomnia is a well-established risk factor for suicide and is associated with suicidality severity. One study found that in a community sample of early adolescents, problems falling asleep and staying asleep were associated with suicidal ideation presence (Franic et al., 2014). Further, in a brief longitudinal study, researchers found evidence to suggest that the significant relationship between symptoms of insomnia and suicidal ideation was unidirectional (symptoms of insomnia predicting suicidal ideation severity, but not vice-versa) (Zuromski et al., 2017). In a 14-year follow-up of a prospective cohort in Japan, Fujino et al. (2005) reported that the severity of the insomnia symptom of difficulty maintaining sleep was associated with an over two-fold increase in risk of death by suicide (OR = 2.4). In another sample of depressed middle-aged and older adults, Kay et al. (2016) found insomnia symptom severity to be associated with suicide attempts. Lastly, in a nationwide population-based retrospective cohort study of recently hospitalized suicide attempters, Lin et al. (2018) reported that the patients with insomnia were at 3.5 times higher suicide risk than patients without insomnia as measured by the International Classification of Diseases, Ninth Revision (ICD-9). Evidence suggests that insomnia confers risk for both suicidal ideation and behavior.

Further, there is evidence that the association between insomnia and suicidality persists even when accounting for depression and other common risk factors for suicidality. A study using a nationally representative survey found that the relationship between symptoms of insomnia and suicidal ideation frequency was not moderated by depression (Simmons et al., 2020). Two other studies reported that the statistically significant relationship between insomnia and suicidal ideation severity persisted, even when accounting for depressive symptoms (Krakow et al., 2011; McCall et al., 2010). In non-treatment samples, reports have suggested the significant relationship between symptoms of insomnia and suicidal behavior (i.e., suicide attempts and death by suicide), even after accounting for psychiatric disorders that confer risk for suicidality (Becker et al., 2018; Carli et al., 2011; Fujino et al., 2005; Goldstein et al., 2008; Ribeiro et al., 2012; Wong et al., 2016). Interestingly, one study reported finding that symptoms of insomnia were stronger predictors of suicide attempt than depression and hopelessness in a military sample (Ribeiro et al., 2012). In a 10-year population-based study of elderly individuals, Bernert et al. (2014) reported that even after controlling for depressive symptoms, baseline sleep quality was associated with risk for death by suicide. Similarly, Bjørngaard et al. (2011) found in their 20-year follow-up study of Norwegian adults that self-reported sleep problems at baseline were associated with subsequent suicide risk, ranging from nearly two times to over four times the risk depending on the severity when compared to those with no sleeping problems (OR = 1.9-4.3). In their study, those who self-reported severe insomnia symptoms were independently at risk for suicide, even when controlling for mental disorders and alcohol use. In patients with depressive disorders, Chellappa & Araujo (2007) found that patients with comorbid insomnia were at greater risk for active suicidal ideation and specific suicide plans than compared to patients with depression and no significant insomnia complaints. Similarly, our research teams' recent research found that in psychiatric patients, self-reported insomnia was associated with suicide attempts and death by suicide. These results remained significant even after controlling for demographic features and psychiatric disorders commonly associated with suicidality (Simmons et al., 2021). In recently hospitalized suicide attempters, Ferentinos et al. (2016) reported that insomnia proximally predicted suicidal intent, even after adjusting for demographic

variables, medication use, psychiatric diagnoses, previous suicidality, time since last suicide attempt, and drug use. Given that the insomnia-suicidality association may persist when controlling for depression and other major risk factors for suicidality, further research is needed to explore other potential explanatory variables in this association.

Emotion Dysregulation as a Potential Neurocognitive Explanation of the Insomnia and Suicidality Association

Neurocognitive factors point to specific cognitive function impairment due to insomnia. Using local sleep deprivation as a model, we posit that nocturnal symptoms of insomnia (i.e., difficulty going to sleep and going back to sleep) prevent regional sleep restoration resulting in regional neurocognitive consequences related to the daytime impairment reported by individuals with insomnia. In their recent study comparing glucose metabolism rates in individuals with primary insomnia and good sleeper controls, Kay et al. (2016) found that patients with insomnia had less NREM sleep-wake differences in their relative glucose metabolism in the left middle frontal gyrus, left parietal cortex, fusiform/lingual/occipital gyri, posterior cingulate cortex, and precuneus when compared to good sleeper controls. Other fMRI studies of patients with insomnia have also found that activity and connectivity in the cingulate cortex (Dai et al., 2014; Li et al., 2014), fusiform gyrus (Dai et al., 2014) frontal gyrus (Dai et al., 2014; Li et al., 2014; Son et al., 2018), and precuneus (Li et al., 2014) significantly differ from healthy controls. The brain regions outlined here have implications for decision-making, integration of self-referential thought, memory, and affective processes. Studies have also found evidence that there are structural and functional differences in these brain regions, including the cingulate cortex (Benedetti et al., 2011; Pan et al., 2011; Pan et al., 2013; Peng et al., 2014; Shu et al., 2020;

Wagner et al., 2011), fusiform gyrus (Soloff et al., 2012), frontal gyrus (Giakoumatos et al., 2013; Hwang et al., 2010; Sarkinaite et al., 2021; Shu et al., 2020), precuneus (Shu et al., 2020), lingual gyrus (Giakoumatos et al., 2013), occipital gyrus (Benedetti et al., 2011), and parietal cortex (Giakoumatos et al., 2013; Hwang et al., 2010; Peng et al., 2014) in suicidal patients compared to controls. This overlap in brain regions between patients with insomnia and suicidal patients may have implications for the relationship between insomnia and suicidal ideation, suicidal behaviors, and suicide risk.

There is evidence to suggest that deficits in the brain regions affected by insomnia may also lead to emotion dysregulation. In their review of the neurophysiology of emotion dysregulation in patients with bipolar disorder, Green et al. (2007) found that cingulate regions of the brain inhibited emotional and cognitive control. Similarly, another study found that cingulate gyrus activation played a significant role in working memory, attention to negative stimuli, and rumination (Jollant et al., 2011). In patients with PTSD, Lanius et al. (2003) found that the patients showed significantly less activation of the cingulate gyrus in memory recall of traumatic, sad, and anxious experiences compared to controls. In another review of fMRI studies of patients with generalized anxiety disorder, Mochcovitch et al. (2014) found that the patients with anxiety exhibited hypoactivation in the cingulate cortex during emotion regulation tasks. Thus, evidence suggests that those who experience insomnia are at greater risk for emotion dysregulation. This association may reflect consequences of insomnia due to local sleep deprivation in brain regions governing emotion regulation. Given the overlap between brain regions affected by insomnia, suicidality, and emotional dysregulation, we posit that further investigation is warranted to determine to what extent emotional dysregulation plays a role in this relationship.

Interpersonal Needs as Potential Psychosocial Explanations of the Insomnia and Suicidality Association

Joiner's suicide risk model may outline potential psychosocial models that facilitate the association between insomnia and suicidality. The interpersonal theory of suicide (IPTS) posits that three major factors contribute to the risk of suicidality: thwarted belongingness, perceived burdensomeness, and acquired capability (Joiner, 2005; Van Orden et al., 2010). Thwarted belongingness refers to the basic human need of social connectedness being unmet. Thwarted belonging is further characterized as comprising of loneliness and a lack of caring interpersonal relationships. Perceived burdensomeness refers to one's perception of their burden on family members or other loved ones. According to Van Orden et al. (2010), this could refer to someone seeing themselves as a liability to others, as well as self-hatred. Van Orden et al. (2010), describe thwarted belongingness and perceived burdensomeness as a "dynamic cognitive-affective state[s]" that can be influenced by both interpersonal and intrapersonal factors (p. 10). Thwarted belongingness and perceived burdensomeness are psychosocial phenomena related to unmet interpersonal needs that may confer risk for suicidality.

Thwarted belongingness and perceived burdensomeness are described as psychological mechanisms contributing to suicidality. Van Orden et al. (2006; 2008), demonstrated that self-reported thwarted belongingness and perceived burdensomeness have a significant association with suicidal ideation severity and suicidal behavior. Further, these two risk factors in conjunction with hopelessness that these perceptions will never change, are posited to increase the risk of a desire to die by suicide. A recent meta-analysis' results suggested a modest but significant effect size for thwarted belongingness and perceived burdensomeness being

associated with suicidal ideation as well as prior suicide attempts (Chu et al., 2017). Some other studies have also suggested that thwarted belongingness and perceived burdensomeness predict suicidal ideation (Barzilay et al., 2015; Christensen et al., 2013). In a study of the role of thwarted belongingness in the insomnia and suicidal ideation association, Chu et al. (2016) found that insomnia led to increased risk of loneliness and that loneliness may play a role in explaining the between insomnia and suicidality. Thwarted belongingness and perceived burdensomeness are risk factors for suicidality that warrant further investigation into their role in the insomnia suicidality association.

Further research has begun to explore if the psychological mechanisms described in the IPTS explain the association between insomnia and suicidality. In two studies with a sole focus on the mediating effect of thwarted belongingness on the association between insomnia and suicidality, both found that thwarted belongingness mediated the relationship between insomnia and suicidality. These two studies also reported that greater insomnia severity was associated with greater self-reported severity of thwarted belongingness and suicidality, even after accounting for symptoms of anxiety (Chu et al., 2016; Chu, Hom, et al., 2017). With their longitudinal design, Chu et al. (2017) also found that insomnia did not mediate the relationship between thwarted belongingness and suicidality, further supporting the specificity of this relationship. A couple of studies found that thwarted belongingness and perceived burdensomeness accounted for the relationship between insomnia and suicidal ideation crosssectionally, but that this relationship was not consistent in their longitudinal model (Hom et al., 2017; Hom et al., 2019). The second study found that the relationship between insomnia and suicidal behavior was not directly mediated by thwarted belongingness and perceived burdensomeness, instead, insomnia was related directly to depression which was indirectly

related to increased risk of suicidal behavior through thwarted belongingness and perceived burdensomeness (Britton et al., 2019). There is evidence to suggest that thwarted belongingness and perceived burdensomeness play a role in the insomnia and suicidality association, but further research is needed to replicate and extend these findings.

Aims and Hypotheses

Aim 1

Our first aim is to replicate previous findings of the association between insomnia and frequency of suicidal ideation in a large, nationally representative sample with validated measures.

Hypothesis 1

We hypothesize that insomnia as measured by the Insomnia Severity Index (ISI), and severity of suicidality, as measured by the Frequency of Suicidal Ideation Index (FSII), will be significantly associated even after accounting for demographic variables and self-reported depression (PROMIS-Depression) and anxiety (PROMIS-Anxiety) severity.

Aim 2

Our second aim is to understand if emotion dysregulation, thwarted belongingness, and perceived burdensomeness play a mediating role in the insomnia-suicidal ideation severity association, even when accounting for depression.

Hypothesis 2a

We hypothesize that greater insomnia severity, as measured by the Insomnia Severity Index (ISI), will be associated with suicidal ideation severity, as endorsed on the Frequency of Suicidal Ideation Index (FSII). We further hypothesize that this association will be partially mediated by emotion dysregulation, as measured by the Difficulties in Emotion Regulation Scale (DERS), thwarted belongingness, as measured by a component score on the Interpersonal Needs Questionnaire (INQ), and perceived burdensomeness, as measured by a component score on the Interpersonal Needs Questionnaire (INQ) (Figure 1).

Hypothesis 2b

We hypothesize that the partial mediation of emotion dysregulation, thwarted belongingness, and perceived burdensomeness in the association between insomnia severity and suicidality severity will persist after accounting for depression, as measured by the Patient-Reported Outcomes Measurement Information System (PROMIS) Emotional Distress – Depression – Short Form (Figure 2).

Methods

Participants

We collected data from 428 participants in an online survey through Qualtrics. This number of participants was determined through previous study designs as well as power analyses. Previous cross-sectional mediational studies investigating the role components of the IPTS play in the association between insomnia symptoms and suicidality have used sample sizes of 552 college students (Chu et al., 2016), 937 United States (U.S.) military service members, 3,386 Army recruiters, 417 military veterans (Hom et al., 2017), 469 U.S. undergraduate students, 352 adult mental health outpatients, 858 U.S. firefighters (Chu, Hom, et al., 2017), 747 undergraduate students, 604 undergraduate students (Nadorff et al., 2014), and 151 adolescent psychiatric inpatients (Zullo et al., 2017). Further, our power analysis found that a sample of 400 participants would allow us to distinguish small to medium effect sizes ($f^2 = 0.04$) with .85

power (see figures 3 and 4) (G*Power 3). Given previous studies' sample sizes and sample make-up and our power analyses, we suggest that a nationally representative sample of 400 individuals is sufficient for our study and offers a meaningful addition to the literature.

We collected four separate groups of at least 100 participants for each of the four levels of insomnia severity according to the ISI. The only inclusion criterion for this study was being an adult (18 years and older) to increase the generalizability of our findings. Participants who endorsed having been diagnosed with sleep apnea were excluded from the study to increase the likelihood that self-reported insomnia severity is measuring insomnia instead of sleep apnea. Participants were recruited by a Qualtrics team and placed into one of four groups: no clinically significant insomnia (ISI = 0-7) (n = 106), subthreshold insomnia (ISI = 8-14) (n = 107), clinical insomnia (moderate severity) (ISI =15-21) (n = 108), or clinical insomnia (severe) (ISI = 22-28) (n = 103). This recruitment methodology allowed us to maximize the variability of insomnia severity in our sample. The Qualtrics team ensured that demographic features were stratified across all four groups to avoid sampling bias. The Qualtrics team also gathered a sample that was nationally representative by age, race, and gender based on United States census data to increase the generalizability of our findings. Table 1 shows demographic features in the overall sample as well as across insomnia severity groups. The total sample size was 424 after removing four participants for completing the survey in notably short times (<490 seconds). In the sample, 52% identified as female, 12% endorsed Hispanic, Latino, or Spanish origin, 58% were white, and 46% endorsed never being married. Participants with education levels from less than a high school diploma to doctorate and professional degrees, ages from 18-89, and an annual income from <\$10,000 to >\$190,000 were represented.

16

Procedures

Participants were required to agree to an electronic informed consent form to respond to an anonymous survey that explained the risks of the survey, namely, that responding to items about their mental health may be troubling or distressing. To protect the participants, we provided national suicide prevention hotlines and texting services at the beginning and end of the survey. The sample was then administered several measures through the Qualtrics survey that collected data on demographics, insomnia severity, suicidality severity, emotional regulation, thwarted belongingness, and perceived burdensomeness as described below.

Measures

Main Variables of Interest

Insomnia Severity. Participants' insomnia severity was measured with the ISI as the main independent variable for all analyses. The ISI is a 7-item self-report measure of the severity of nocturnal symptoms of insomnia as well as daytime impairment due to their current sleeping difficulties within the last two weeks (i.e., "How satisfied/dissatisfied are you with your current sleep pattern?"). All items are scored on a Likert scale from 0 to 4, with higher responses indicating greater insomnia severity. Total scores are calculated by summing the responses of the 7 items together. The ISI total score was used as the main independent variable to determine insomnia severity for all analyses.

In their validation study, Bastien et al. (2001) reported in their first of two studies an acceptable internal consistency at a .74 alpha coefficient. They cited acceptable item-total correlations with an average correlation of .54. In their second study, they reported a mean item-total correlation of .56 at pretreatment, .69 at post-treatment, and .72 at follow-up. They further reported good internal consistency with alpha coefficients ranging from .76 at baseline to .78 at

follow-up. Regarding convergent validity, ISI items were compared to corresponding sleep diary variables (i.e., sleep-onset, wake after sleep onset, early morning awakenings, and total score vs. sleep efficiency) and correlations between the two ranged from r = 0.32-0.55 pre-treatment to r = 0.50-0.91 post-treatment (p < 0.05 for all variables). Another study reported that the ISI total score significantly correlated with the Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (PSQI) total score at r = .80, p < 0.005, also suggesting acceptable convergent validity (Morin et al., 2011). Bastien et al. (2001) also reported that ISI scores were sensitive to change using sleep diary change over time as a reference for all corresponding sleep diary variables at both pre-treatment and follow-up (p < 0.05 for all sleep diary variables). Further, Morin et al. (2011) reported that ISI scores for patients receiving treatment pre-and post-treatment found that patients who were rated as "moderately improved" reported an average decrease of 8.4 points (95% CI: -7.2, -9.5) while those who were rated as "markedly improved" reported an average decrease of 9.9 points (95% CI: -8.7, -11.0). In their principal components analysis, Bastien et al. (2001) reported three components (impact, severity, and satisfaction) that explained 72% of the variance in ISI scores.

Emotion Regulation. Participants' emotion regulation was measured through the DERS to understand its role in the insomnia-suicidal ideation association. The DERS is a 36-item self-report measure that asks participants to indicate the frequency of experiences they have that are related to emotion regulation (i.e., "I am clear about my feelings," or "When I'm upset, I acknowledge my emotions"). All items are scored on a Likert scale from 1 ("almost never") to 5 ("almost always"). There are several reversed scored items, with higher scores indicating greater difficulty with emotion dysregulation. Six subscales are calculated through the sum of a subset of items. These subscales are nonacceptance of emotional responses, difficulty engaging in goal-directed behavior, impulse control difficulties, lack of emotional awareness, limited access to

emotion regulation strategies, and lack of emotional clarity. For this study, total scores from the DERS were used as a mediator variable to determine how emotion regulation difficulties play a role in the insomnia and suicidal ideation frequency association.

Gratz & Roemer (2004) completed an exploratory factor analysis and found evidence that six factors accounted for 56% of the variance of the measured variables. They further reported that the DERS had excellent internal consistency, citing an alpha coefficient of 0.93. All but two items on the DERS were cited as having item-total correlations above r = 0.30. Regarding convergent validity, the DERS total score was found to correlate with the Negative Mood Regulation Scale (a commonly used measure of emotion regulation) at r = 0.69, p < 0.01. Gratz & Roemer (2004) also reported acceptable predictive validity for the DERS by citing DERS total score correlating with measures of self-harm (r = 0.20, p < 0.01 for women, r = 0.26, p < 0.05 for men) and intimate partner abuse (r = 0.34, p < 0.01 for men). Lastly, Gratz & Roemer (2004) demonstrated good test-retest reliability over 4-8 weeks for DERS total score ($\rho = .88$, p < 0.01).

Interpersonal Needs (Thwarted Belongingness and Perceived Burdensomeness).

Participants' level of thwarted belongingness and perceived burdensomeness were measured through the INQ to determine the role of interpersonal needs in the insomnia-suicidal ideation association. The INQ is a 15-item self-report measure that asks participants questions about how they think about themselves and other people (i.e., "The days, the people in my life would be better off if I were gone," and "These days, I feel disconnected from other people"). All items are scored on a Likert scale from 1 ("Not at all true for me") to 7 ("Very true for me"). Several items on the INQ are reversed scored. The sum of the first 6 items creates a subscale for perceived burdensomeness, while the last 9 items create a subscale for thwarted belongingness. Higher scores indicate greater perceived burdensomeness or thwarted belongingness. The sum of these

two separate subscales were used as a mediator variable to gauge how interpersonal needs play a role in the insomnia and suicidal ideation frequency association.

Van Orden et al. (2012) reported in three separate samples the goodness of fit of the confirmatory factor analysis of the INQ, citing CFI values between 0.864 and 0.915, TLI between 0.838 and 0.898, RMSEA between 0.055 and 0.075, and SRMR between 0.052 and 0.072. Van Orden et al. (2012) also reported convergent validity for both thwarted belongingness and perceived burdensomeness in a sample of younger adults. They noted that thwarted belongingness significantly correlated with all four similar constructs (lonely r = 0.914, social support r = -0.756, self-liking r = -0.466, and relatedness r = -0.842). They further reported that perceived burdensomeness correlated with three of the four similar constructs (autonomy r = -0.176, responsibility to family r = -0.153, and self-competence r = -0.261). They reported that only perceived burdensomeness displayed discriminant validity in this sample, only significantly correlating with one of the four dissimilar constructs. Similar findings were reported with a sample of older adults, indicating supporting evidence for convergent validity, and some evidence for divergent validity for both subscales. Lastly, Van Orden et al. (2012) reported that those who endorsed greater odds of suicidal ideation also had an associated increase in both thwarted belongingness (OR = 1.59, p < 0.01) and perceived burdensomeness (OR = 2.21, p < 0.01) 0.01). Further, they found that INQ scores predicted higher suicidality scores a month later for both thwarted belongingness (95% CI IRR = 1.007 - 1.009) and perceived burdensomeness (95% CI IRR = 1.04-1.90).

Frequency of Suicidal Ideation. Participants' frequency of suicidal ideation was measured through the FSII to act as the dependent variable for all analyses. The FSII is a 5-item self-report measure that asks participants to assess the frequency of suicidal ideation-related experiences (i.e., "Over the past year, how often have you thought about hurting yourself?" or "Over the past year, how often have you wished that you did not exist?"). Items are scored on a Likert scale from 1 ("Never") to 5 ("Almost every day"). Higher scores are indicative of more frequent suicidal ideation. Total scores of this measure were used to act as the dependent variable in our analyses to understand the association between insomnia and frequency of suicidal ideation.

In their principal-axis factor analysis, Chang & Chang (2016) found a single factor (suicidal ideation frequency) which accounted for 86.96% of the total variance with all items loading at >.85 onto the factor. They also reported great internal consistency with an alpha coefficient of 0.96. Chang & Chang (2016) noted that the FSII displayed excellent convergent validity as it correlated with various suicide risk measures (Adult Suicidal Ideation Questionnaire r = 0.88, p < 0.001, Suicidal Behaviors Questionnaire-Revised r = 0.85, p < 0.001, and the Beck Depression Inventory r = 0.54, p < 0.001) and negatively correlated with suicide protective measures (Positivity Scale r = -0.47, p < 0.001, Flourishing Scale r = -0.45, p < 0.001, and the Positive Affectivity Scale r = -0.32, p < 0.001). Lastly, Chang & Chang reported moderate testretest reliability over a 6-week period ($\rho = 0.61$).

Potential Confounding Variables

Demographics. Demographic data included gender (woman, man, non-binary, other), age (18-24, 25-34, 35-44, 45-54, 55-64, 65-74, 75-84, 85-89), Hispanic, Latino, or Spanish origin, race (American Indian/Alaska Native, Asian, Black/African American, Native Hawaiian or Other Pacific Islander, White, from multiple races, other), education (less than a high school diploma, high school degree or equivalent (e.g., GED), some college, associate degree, bachelor's degree, master's degree, professional degree, doctorate), income (<\$10,000, >\$10,000-\$40,000, \$40,001-\$90,000, \$90,001-\$190,000, >\$190,000), and marital status (never married, married, widowed, divorced, separated). Participants were asked to report the medications they are currently taking in a fill-in-the-blank format and any mental disorders they are currently and formally diagnosed with (depressive, psychotic, anxiety, personality, substance use, bipolar, neurodevelopmental, neurocognitive, trauma-related, obsessive-compulsive, and somatic disorders) from a multi-selection item. Demographic variables were used as control variables in our regression analysis.

Depression. The Patient-Reported Outcomes Measurement Information System (PROMIS) Emotional Distress – Depression – Short Form was used to measure depression severity to control for this confounding variable. This 8-item self-report measure was created to monitor treatment progress in clinical settings and asks participants to indicate the frequency of face-valid depressive symptoms they have experienced throughout the past 7 days (i.e., "I felt worthless," or "I felt that I had nothing to look forward to"). Items are measured on a 5-point Likert scale (0 is "never", 5 is "always"). Raw scores are determined by summing all 8 responses together. A t-score conversion table is provided with the measure to determine depression severity. The total score from this measure was used to determine depression severity and control for this confounding variable in our regression and mediational analyses.

Pilkonis et al. (2011) report exceptional internal consistency of this measure, citing a .83 mean adjusted item-total correlation and a .95 alpha coefficient. They further cited excellent model fit in their one-factor confirmatory factor analysis (CFI = 0.99, TLI = 0.99, RMSEA = 0.11). Regarding convergent validity, Pilkonis et al. (2011) reported the PROMIS Emotional Distress – Depression – Short Form had a correlation value of r = .83 when using the Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale (CES-D) as the convergent measure, indicating good

convergent validity. Schalet et al. (2016) found that the PROMIS Emotional Distress -

Depression – Short Form was also sensitive to change in intervention studies when therapy and/or psychotropic medications were used in treatment, citing an average of 6.7-point decrease in the major depressive disorder group (n = 196) scores ($p \le .001$) after a 3-month follow up. Further, in patients who had cancer that worsened throughout treatment (n = 38), there was an average of 3.0-point increase in scores ($p \le .001$) after a 6–12-week follow-up.

Anxiety. The PROMIS Emotional Distress – Anxiety – Short Form was used to measure anxiety severity to control for this confounding variable. This 7-item self-report measure was created to monitor treatment progress in clinical settings and asks participants to indicate the frequency of face-valid anxiety symptoms they have experienced throughout the past 7 days (i.e., "I felt fearful," or "I felt anxious"). Items are measured on a 5-point Likert scale (0 is "never", 5 is "always"). Raw scores are determined by summing all 7 responses together. A t-score conversion table is provided with the measure to determine anxiety severity. The total score from this measure was used to determine anxiety severity and control for this confounding variable in our regression analysis.

Pilkonis et al. (2011) report exceptional internal consistency of this measure, citing a .79 mean adjusted item-total correlation and a .93 alpha coefficient. They further cited excellent model fit in their one-factor confirmatory factor analysis (CFI = .99, TLI = .99, RMSEA = .05). Regarding convergent validity, Pilkonis et al. (2011) reported the PROMIS Emotional Distress – Anxiety – Short Form had a correlation value of r = .80 when using the Mood and Anxiety Symptom Questionnaire (MASQ) as the convergent measure, indicating good convergent validity. Schalet et al. (2016) found that the PROMIS Emotional Distress – Anxiety – Short Form was also sensitive to change in intervention studies when therapy and/or psychotropic

medications were used in treatment, citing an average of 6.3-point decrease in the major depressive disorder group (n = 196) scores ($p \le .001$) after a 3-month follow-up. Further, in patients who had cancer that worsened throughout treatment (n = 38), there was an average of 1.9-point increase in scores (p < 0.05) after a 6–12-week follow-up (Schalet et al., 2016).

Analyses

Multiple regression analyses between self-reported insomnia and suicidality severity were used to gauge the strength of this relationship whilst controlling for demographic variables, depression, and anxiety. We used structural equation modeling to perform an uncontrolled mediational analysis to understand the role emotion regulation, thwarted belongingness, and perceived burdensomeness play in the relationship between insomnia severity and suicidality severity. We then used a controlled mediational model to account for depression in the previously described analysis (see figures 1 & 2). The mediational models are saturated. All analyses were completed in STATA 17 (StataCorp. 2021. *Stata Statistical Software: Release 17*. College Station, TX: StataCorp LLC).

Results

Aim 1

Hypothesis 1

Results for the uncontrolled and controlled multiple regression models of aim 1 analyses are found in Table 2. In both analyses, we controlled for demographic variables (age, gender, race-ethnicity, educational attainment, and marital status). In the controlled model of aim 1, we controlled for demographic variables as well as depression and anxiety severity. In our uncontrolled model ($F_{(32,391)} = 5.39$, p < 0.001, $R^2 = 0.306$), we found that insomnia severity was associated with increased suicidality severity when accounting for demographic variables (p < 0.001, CI = 0.19 - 0.31). Further, endorsing an age of 55-64 (p = 0.039, CI = -3.92 - 0.10), 65-74 (p = 0.004, CI = -5.03 - 0.96), or 75-84 (p = 0.017, CI = -6.03 - 0.61) was associated with a decrease in suicidality severity. Lastly, endorsing Black/African American as race-ethnicity was associated with a decrease in suicidality severity (p = 0.037, CI = -2.71 - 0.09).

In the controlled model ($F_{(32,389)} = 11.37$, p < 0.001, $R^2 = 0.498$), insomnia was not significantly associated with suicidality severity when controlling for anxiety and depression severity (p = 0.836, CI = -0.06 - 0.08). As such, evidence for hypothesis 1 is only partially supported. Further, endorsing American Indian/Alaska Native (p = 0.009, CI = 0.91 - 6.37) or multiple races (p = 0.042, CI = 0.07 - 3.92) as race-ethnicity was associated with an increase in suicidality severity. Depression severity was also associated with an increase in suicidality severity (p < 0.001, CI = 0.32 - 0.50).

Aim 2

Hypothesis 2a

Results for the structural equation models of aim 2 analyses are found in Figures 1 and 2. In both models, we tested whether the association between insomnia severity and suicidality severity was mediated by emotion regulation, thwarted belongingness, and perceived burdensomeness using structural equation modeling with maximum likelihood estimation. In the controlled model for aim 2, we accounted for depression severity in addition to emotion regulation, thwarted belongingness, and perceived burdensomeness. Chi-squared fit statistics for the uncontrolled model was χ^2 (10, N = 424) = 1195.79, p < 0.001 and the controlled model was, χ^2 (15, N = 424) = 1705.86, p < 0.001. Both the uncontrolled and controlled models were saturated. We report unstandardized beta values.

Regarding the direct effects in the uncontrolled model, insomnia severity was significantly associated with emotion regulation ($\beta = 1.95$, p < 0.001), thwarted belongingness ($\beta = 0.73$, p < 0.001), and perceived burdensomeness ($\beta = 0.52$, p < 0.001). Further, emotion regulation ($\beta = 0.03$, p < 0.001) and perceived burdensomeness ($\beta = 0.35$, p < 0.001) were significantly associated with suicidality severity while thwarted belongingness ($\beta = 0.02$, p = 0.137) was not. The indirect effects for emotion regulation ($\beta = 0.06$, p = 0.001) and perceived burdensomeness ($\beta = 0.18$, p < 0.001) were significant while the indirect effect for thwarted belongingness ($\beta = 0.02$, p = 0.137) was not. The indirect effect ($\beta = 0.001$) were significant while the indirect effect for thwarted belongingness ($\beta = 0.02$, p = 0.142) was not. Regarding the association between insomnia and suicidality severity, the direct effect ($\beta = 0.05$, p = 0.033), indirect effect ($\beta = 0.26$, p < 0.001), and the total effect ($\beta = 0.30$, p < 0.001) were significant. The ratio of the indirect effect to the total effect ($\beta = 0.30$, p < 0.001) were significant. The ratio of the indirect effect to the total effect use explained by the mediator variables. These results suggest that the association between insomnia severity and suicidality severity is partially mediated by emotion regulation and perceived burdensomeness, partially supporting hypothesis 2a.

Hypothesis 2b

Regarding the direct effects in the controlled model, insomnia severity was significantly associated with emotion regulation ($\beta = 0.38$, p = 0.010), but not with thwarted belongingness ($\beta = -0.01$, p = 0.931) nor perceived burdensomeness ($\beta = -0.04$, p = 0.570). Further, emotion regulation ($\beta = 0.02$, p = 0.044) and perceived burdensomeness ($\beta = 0.34$, p < 0.001) were significantly associated with suicidality severity, while thwarted belongingness ($\beta = 0.01$, p = 0.411) was not. The indirect effects in the insomnia-suicidality severity path for emotion regulation ($\beta = 0.01$, p = 0.111), thwarted belongingness ($\beta = 0.00$, p = 0.931), and perceived burdensomeness were not significant ($\beta = -0.01$, p = 0.570).

The direct effect between insomnia severity and depression severity ($\beta = 0.77, p < 0.001$) was significant. Further, the direct effects between depression severity and suicidality severity ($\beta = 0.10, p < 0.001$), emotion regulation ($\beta = 2.05, p < 0.001$), thwarted belongingness ($\beta = 0.96, p < 0.001$), and perceived burdensomeness ($\beta = 0.73, p < 0.001$) were significant. The indirect effect in the insomnia-suicidality path through depression was significant ($\beta = 0.08, p = 0.001$). The indirect effects in the insomnia-mediator paths through depression were significant for emotion regulation ($\beta = 1.57, p < 0.001$), thwarted belongingness ($\beta = 0.73, p < 0.001$), and perceived burdensomeness ($\beta = 0.56, p < 0.001$). The indirect effects for the depression-suicidality paths through the mediator variables were significant for emotion regulation ($\beta = 0.04, p = 0.045$) and perceived burdensomeness ($\beta = 0.24, p < 0.001$), but not thwarted belongingness ($\beta = 0.01, p = 0.412$).

Regarding the association between insomnia and suicidality severity, the direct effect ($\beta = 0.01, p = 0.624$) was not significant while the indirect effect ($\beta = 0.29, p < 0.001$) and the total effect ($\beta = 0.30, p < 0.001$) were significant. The ratio of the indirect effect to the total effect between insomnia severity and suicidality severity was 0.96, suggesting that 96% of the variance in the total effect was explained by the mediator variables. These results suggest that the association between insomnia severity and suicidality severity is mediated by emotion regulation and perceived burdensomeness through depression severity, partially supporting hypothesis 2b.

Discussion

Our first aim was to replicate previous findings of the association between insomnia and frequency of suicidal ideation in a large, nationally representative sample with validated measures. We hypothesized that insomnia and suicidality severity would be significantly

associated even after accounting for demographic variables and self-reported depression and anxiety severity. We found that insomnia severity was associated with suicidality severity when controlling for demographic features, but not when accounting for depression severity. Our findings partially support our first hypothesis. Our second aim was to understand if emotion dysregulation, thwarted belongingness, and perceived burdensomeness played a mediating role in the insomnia-suicidality severity association, even when accounting for depression. First, we hypothesized that the association between insomnia and suicidality severity would be partially mediated by emotion dysregulation, thwarted belongingness, and perceived burdensomeness. We found that only emotion regulation and perceived burdensomeness partially mediated the association between insomnia severity and suicidality severity, indicating partial support for this hypothesis. Lastly, we hypothesized that the partial mediation of emotion dysregulation, thwarted belongingness, and perceived burdensomeness in the association between insomnia and suicidality severity would persist after accounting for depression severity. We found that depression severity accounted for the association between insomnia and suicidality severity. However, depression, emotion regulation, and perceived burdensomeness fully mediated the association between insomnia and suicidality severity. These results indicate partial support for our second hypothesis of our second aim.

Findings from our uncontrolled mediation model suggest a partial mediation in that insomnia, perceived burdensomeness, and emotion dysregulation played a role in increasing suicidality severity. In our controlled mediation model, we found evidence for full mediation suggesting that depression, emotion regulation, and perceived burdensomeness may explain the association between insomnia and suicidality severity and may play key roles in conferring risk for suicidality severity. Unsurprisingly, depression played a major role in the association between insomnia severity and suicidality severity. The association between depression and suicidality has been extensively explored and depression has consistently been found to be a major risk factor for suicidality (Franklin et al., 2017). Emotion dysregulation also contributed to explaining the association between insomnia and suicidality. We posit that this may be partially explained by the overlap in brain regions affected by insomnia, suicidality, and emotion dysregulation (Green et al., 2007; Jollant et al., 2011; Lanius et al., 2003; Mochcovitch et al., 2014). Lastly, we found that perceived burdensomeness played a part in explaining the association between insomnia severity and suicidality severity, consistent with previous findings (Barzilay et al., 2015; Christensen et al., 2013; Chu, Buchman-Schmitt, et al., 2017; Van Orden et al., 2006; Van Orden et al., 2008; Zullo et al., 2017). Perceived burdensomeness has been associated with a sense of liability and may contribute to three notable risk factors for suicide: family conflict, unemployment, and physical illness (Van Orden et al., 2010). We suggest that daytime impairment due to insomnia may also contribute to this sense of liability and affect crucial daily activities such as social interaction, productivity, and health. In conjunction, insomnia severity and perceived burdensomeness may confer risk for suicidality.

These results suggest that insomnia severity may be a notable risk factor for suicidality severity, though it may be accounted for by depression. It is notable that in both our regression and mediational analyses depression accounted for the association between insomnia and suicidality severity. While insomnia is a well-established risk factor for suicidality (Franic et al., 2014; Fujino et al., 2005; Kay, Dombrovski, et al., 2016; Lin et al., 2018; Zuromski et al., 2017), even above and beyond depression severity (Becker et al., 2018; Bjorngaard et al., 2011; Bozzay et al., 2016; Carli et al., 2011; Chellappa & Araujo, 2007; Ferentinos et al., 2016; Fujino et al., 2005; Goldstein et al., 2008; Krakow et al., 2011; McCall et al., 2010; Ribeiro et al., 2012;

Simmons et al., 2021; Simmons et al., 2020; Wong et al., 2016), there is also evidence that depression severity may account for the association between insomnia symptoms and suicide risk (Bishop et al., 2019; Bryan et al., 2015; Nadorff et al., 2013; Pompili et al., 2013; Zullo et al., 2017). This may be the case as insomnia is a symptom of depression and is often comorbid with depressive disorders (American Psychiatric Association, 2013). As such, insomnia and depression severity may be difficult to distinguish, especially in a cross-sectional sample.

In our past research, we presented data that suggested that insomnia may be more specifically related to suicidal behavior rather than suicidal ideation (Simmons et al., 2021; Simmons et al., 2020). This could be due to the impact that insomnia confers on brain processes related to cognition, memory, and affect. Evidence suggests that patients with insomnia have a decreased relative glucose metabolism in the left middle frontal gyrus, left parietal cortex, fusiform/lingual/occipital gyri, posterior cingulate cortex, and precuneus (Kay, Karim, et al., 2016). These brain regions are implicated in decision-making, self-referential thought, memory, and affective processes. Further, research in patients with a history of suicide attempts has found decreased activity in the middle and superior frontal gyri (Cao et al., 2016), increased activity in the anterior and posterior cingulate cortices (van Heeringen et al., 2014), increased volume in right and left orbitofrontal cortices (Monkul et al., 2007), dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (van Heeringen et al., 2011), caudate nuclei, and rectal and superior temporal gyri (van Heeringen et al., 2014), and an increase in right amygdala volumes (Monkul et al., 2007) compared to nonsuicidal individuals. These brain regions implicated in patients with suicidality have been associated with impulsive behavior (Cao et al., 2016; Monkul et al., 2007; van Heeringen et al., 2014), emotion dysregulation (Jollant et al., 2011), and impaired decision-making (Monkul et al., 2007; van Heeringen et al., 2011). We note that overlap in brain regions adversely affected in

those with insomnia and suicidality and suggest that deficits in these brain regions may be due in part to "localized sleep deprivation." Localized sleep deprivation refers to certain brain areas that are not sufficiently rejuvenated due to disturbed sleep which may affect executive functioning, self-referential thinking, and affect (Kay, Dombrovski, et al., 2016). Deficits in these brain regions may play a role in increasing risk for suicidality due to their impact on cognition, memory, and affective processes. However, further research is necessary to understand the association between localized sleep deprivation due to insomnia and suicidality and to understand if insomnia may specifically confer risk for suicidal behavior rather than general suicidality.

In both mediational models, thwarted belongingness did not mediation the association between insomnia and suicidality severity. Two previous studies found that thwarted belongingness mediated insomnia and suicidality cross-sectionally (Chu, Buchman-Schmitt, et al., 2017; Chu et al., 2016) but not longitudinally (Chu, Hom, et al., 2017). Another study found that thwarted belongingness explained the association between insomnia and suicidality severity only through depression (Britton et al., 2019). As collective results are inconclusive, further study, especially with longitudinal methodologies, is necessary to understand the mediating effects of thwarted belongingness in this association. Our findings suggest that perceived burdensomeness, but not thwarted belongingness, mediates the association between insomnia and suicidality severity. While insomnia severity was associated with thwarted belongingness, thwarted belongingness did not explain the association between insomnia and suicidality severity. It is possible that the association is better accounted for by perceived burdensomeness. As mentioned earlier, daytime impairment associated with insomnia may confer increased risk for perceived burdensomeness through deficits in daily activities such as social interaction, productivity, and health, leading to increased risk for suicidality. Such an association may not be tied between insomnia severity and thwarted belongingness in a way that increases risk for suicidality.

We note several limitations of the current study. We acknowledge the potential statistical biases introduced by implementing mediational analyses with cross-sectional data. Maxwell and Cole (2007) reported that cross-sectional approaches can lead to statistical biases that can significantly overestimate and underestimate the effects, even under ideal circumstances. Thus, we note that our cross-sectional data, gathered due to limits of time and resources, may introduce bias into our data and is a notable limitation. Further, there are several considerations worth noting with the sole use of data collection via an online survey. Some limitations include the possibility of a non-naïve sample, a non-standardized and non-monitored administration environment, and less flexibility with the administration of behavioral measures. However, some strengths include the ability to gather a large sample quickly, less cost, and access to a nationally representative sample. Further, there is evidence to suggest that data collected via online surveys for behavioral research is an effective methodology.

Several studies have performed research on the data quality of online surveys by collecting professional panel data, student sample data, and laboratory data to compare to online survey data. Data quality, as measured by rejection rates, statistical power, distributions, and participant involvement, was of similar or better quality in the online survey samples (Kees et al., 2017; Sprouse, 2011). Further, in their examination of the utility of online survey research in populations with psychopathology, Shapiro et al. (2013) found that the high quality of the psychometrics of the measures, acceptable validity of self-reported symptoms, and increased comfort with disclosing symptomatology through the online survey provided evidence that

online surveys may be a useful resource for behavioral research in clinical populations. Due to the nature of our data collection process, we acknowledge that we had little control over the frequency and severity of suicidality of participants in this study. Because of Qualtrics' limitations for screening, we were unable to assess for suicidality prior to including participants. However, we do note that in patients who experience sleep disturbance, there is a 1.95-2.95 times increased likelihood of risk for suicidality (Pigeon et al., 2012). Despite the limitations presented by the use of online surveys in behavioral research, there is evidence to suggest the effectiveness and relative strengths of this methodology.

This study has several strengths, including a diverse, nationally representative sample, a large sample size, and the use of validated measures. This study is also the first of its kind in that it examines a previously unexplored mediator in the insomnia-suicidality association. Lastly, this study clarifies the association between insomnia and suicidality and offers a steppingstone for further research.

This study highlights the importance of gauging suicidality risk through assessment and treatment of perceived burdensomeness and emotion dysregulation, especially in patients with insomnia. A previous review of the IPTS suggested that perceived burdensomeness is alterable and may best be treated by addressing perceived burdensomeness through assessment and direct intervention pertaining to social connectedness and contributions (Van Orden et al., 2010). Evidence suggests that treatment of emotion dysregulation through dialectical behavioral therapy skills leads to greater emotion regulation and a decrease in suicidal behaviors (Neacsiu et al., 2010). Lastly, insomnia symptoms are also a modifiable risk factor for suicidality (Kay, Dombrovski, et al., 2016). Research indicates that cognitive behavior therapy for insomnia, the

front-line treatment for insomnia, may not only be effective in treating insomnia but also in decreasing suicidality (Manber et al., 2011; Trockel et al., 2015).

In conclusion, symptoms of insomnia, perceived burdensomeness, and emotion dysregulation may play key roles in suicidality severity. These difficulties may serve as potent markers for suicide risk and potential targets for treatment and suicide prevention. Further research should focus on replicating these results with a longitudinal methodology and explore other potential mediators of interest in the insomnia-suicidality association. Future research is also needed to determine the mechanisms through which insomnia and suicidality are related.

	Overall sample				
Characteristic	(n = 424)	NI (<i>n</i> = 106)	SI (<i>n</i> = 107)	CIM (<i>n</i> = 108)	CIS (<i>n</i> = 103)
Gender					
Man	195(46%)	35(33%)	56(52%)	65(60%)	39(38%)
Woman	221(52%)	71(67%)	49(46%)	39(36%)	62(60%)
Non-binary	7(2%)	0(0%)	2(2%)	3(3%)	2(2%)
Other	1(0%)	0(0%)	0(0%)	1(1%)	0(0%)
Age					
18-24	57(13%)	16(15%)	12(11%)	15(14%)	14(14%)
25-34	68(16%)	14(13%)	14(13%)	14(13%)	26(25%)
35-44	77(18%)	15(14%)	23(22%)	25(23%)	14(14%)
45-54	60(14%)	11(10%)	18(17%)	19(18%)	12(12%)
55-64	70(17%)	19(18%)	11(10%)	17(16%)	23(22%)
65-74	68(16%)	20(19%)	22(21%)	15(14%)	11(11%)
75-84	23(5%)	11(10%)	6(6%)	3(3%)	3(3%)
85-89	1(0%)	0(0%)	1(1%)	0(0%)	0(0%)
Hispanic, Latino, or Spanish origin	52(12%)	13(12%)	18(17%)	16(15%)	5(5%)
Race					
American Indian/Alaska Native	11(3%)	4(4%)	2(2%)	3(3%)	2(2%)
Asian	38(9%)	17(16%)	13(12%)	6(6%)	2(2%)
Black/African American	91(21%)	36(34%)	21(20%)	22(20%)	12(12%)
Native Hawaiian or Other Pacific Islander	3(1%)	1(1%)	1(1%)	1(1%)	0(0%)
White	244(58%)	38(36%)	62(58%)	64(59%)	80(77%)
From multiple races	21(5%)	4(4%)	4(4%)	6(6%)	7(7%)
Other	16(4%)	6(6%)	4(4%)	6(6%)	0(0%)
Education					
Less than high school diploma	20(5%)	6(6%)	4(4%)	7(6%)	3(3%)
High school degree or equivalent	125(29%)	25(24%)	39(36%)	30(28%)	31(30%)
Some college, no degree	110(26%)	27(25%)	20(19%)	26(24%)	37(36%)
Associate's degree	51(12%)	14(13%)	10(9%)	17(16%)	10(10%)
Bachelor's degree	81(19%)	18(17%)	25(23%)	20(19%)	18(17%)
Master's degree	29(7%)	11(10%)	9(8%)	5(5%)	4(4%)

 Table 1. Demographic and psychological features across insomnia severity groups.

Professional degree	4(1%)	1(1%)	0(0%)	3(3%)	0(0%)
Doctorate	4(1%)	4(4%)	0(0%)	0(0%)	0(0%)
Income					
<\$10,000	69(16%)	17(16%)	18(17%)	15(14%)	19(18%)
\$10,000 - \$40,000	164(39%)	46(43%)	32(30%)	46(43%)	40(39%)
\$40,001 - \$90,000	131(31%)	29(27%)	32(30%)	34(31%)	36(35%)
\$90,001 - \$190,000	48(11%)	8(8%)	21(20%)	12(11%)	7(7%)
>\$190,000	12(3%)	6(6%)	4(4%)	1(1%)	1(1%)
Marital Status					
Divorced	52(12%)	15(14%)	5(5%)	15(14%)	17(17%)
Married	152(36%)	42(40%)	44(41%)	38(35%)	28(27%)
Never married	196(46%)	40(38%)	56(52%)	50(46%)	50(49%)
Separated	10(2%)	3(3%)	1(1%)	2(2%)	4(4%)
Widowed	14(3%)	6(6%)	1(1%)	3(3%)	4(4%)
Suicidality severity	10(6)	6(3)	9(5)	10(5)	13(6)
Depression severity	21(9)	12(5)	20(9)	24(8)	29(7)
Anxiety severity	19(8)	12(5)	18(7)	22(6)	25(6)
Emotion dysregulation	89(28)	66(19)	85(24)	98(25)	106(28)
Thwarted belonging	33(14)	25(13)	31(13)	35(13)	41(14)
Perceived burdensomeness	15(10)	9(6)	14(10)	15(10)	21(12)

Note. NI=no clinically significant insomnia, SI=subthreshold insomnia, CIM=clinical insomnia (moderate severity), CIS=clinical insomnia (severe), M(SD), n(%).

	2		Model 2	
	р	95% CI	р	95% CI
Insomnia severity	>0.001***	0.19-0.31	0.836	-0.06 - 0.08
Age (18-24)				
25-34	0.703	-1.45 - 2.15	0.955	-1.58 - 1.49
35-44	0.262	-2.81 - 0.77	0.376	-2.22 - 0.84
45-54	0.654	-2.35 - 1.48	0.741	-1.37 - 1.92
55-64	0.039*	-3.920.10	0.222	-2.66 - 0.62
65-74	0.004**	-5.030.96	0.452	-2.48 - 1.10
75-84	0.017*	-6.030.61	0.258	-3.70 - 0.99
85-89	0.391	-14.53 - 5.69	0.746	-10.06 - 7.22
Gender (Man)				
Woman	0.400	-1.51 - 0.61	0.585	-1.16 - 0.66
Non-binary	0.798	-4.62 - 3.55	0.491	-4.72 - 2.27
Other	0.475	-6.18 - 13.23	0.330	-4.19 - 12.42
Race-ethnicity (White)				
American Indian/Alaska Native	0.152	-0.86 - 5.52	0.009**	0.91 - 6.37
Asian	0.205	-3.15 - 0.68	0.260	-2.57 - 0.70
Black/African American	0.037*	-2.710.09	0.279	-1.74 - 0.50
Native Hawaiian/Pacific Islander	0.586	-7.18 - 4.06	0.762	-5.54 - 4.06
From multiple races	0.093	-0.32 - 4.19	0.042*	0.07 - 3.92
Other	0.245	-4.06 - 1.04	0.417	-3.08 - 1.28
Educational attainment (Less than high school degree)				
High school degree or equivalent	0.915	-2.47 - 2.21	0.870	-1.84 - 2.17
Some college, no degree	0.470	-3.28 - 1.52	0.361	-3.00 - 1.10
Associate's degree	0.492	-3.56 - 1.72	0.280	-3.50 - 1.01
Bachelor's degree	0.521	-3.38 - 1.72	0.480	-2.96 - 1.39
Master's degree	0.305	-4.55 - 1.43	0.437	-3.56 - 1.54
Professional degree	0.923	-5.75 - 5.21	0.361	-6.86 - 2.50
Doctorate degree	0.820	-6.07 - 4.81	0.925	-4.88 - 4.44
Income (<\$10,000)				
\$10,000 - \$40,000	0.579	-1.89 - 1.06	0.851	-1.38 - 1.14

T	ab	le	2.	Insomnia	a severitv	as a	predictor	of	suicic	lality	v severit	V.
-	~~~	••		moonin	~		precarecor	~ 1	0001010	+	,	, ,

\$40,001 - \$90,000	0.057	-3.13 - 0.04	0.329	-2.04 - 0.68
\$90,001 - \$190,000	0.565	-2.70 - 1.47	0.561	-1.26 - 2.32
>\$190,000	0.334	-4.92 - 1.67	0.962	-2.75 - 2.89
Marital status (Never married)				
Divorced	0.746	-1.40 - 1.95	0.425	-0.85 - 2.01
Married	0.448	-1.73 - 0.77	0.853	-1.17 - 0.97
Separated	0.187	-1.04 - 5.29	0.297	-1.27 - 4.45
Widowed	0.787	-3.26 - 2.47	0.485	-3.31 - 1.58
Depression severity	-	-	>0.001***	0.32 - 0.50
Anxiety severity	-	-	0.320	-0.17 - 0.06

Note: Model 1 controls for demographic variables. Model 2 controls for demographic variables, anxiety severity, and depression severity. *p<0.05, **p<.01, ***p<.001.

Figure 1. Uncontrolled Mediational Model for Emotion Regulation, Thwarted Belongingness, and Perceived Burdensomeness in the Insomnia-Suicidality Severity Association



Note: ISI: Insomnia Severity Index, DERS: Difficulties in Emotion Regulation Scale, INQ:

Interpersonal Needs Questionnaire, FSII: Frequency of Suicidal Ideation Inventory.

Figure 2. Controlled Mediational Model for Emotion Regulation, Thwarted Belongingness,

and Perceived Burdensomeness in the Insomnia-Suicidality Severity Association



Note: ISI: Insomnia Severity Index, DERS: Difficulties in Emotion Regulation Scale, INQ: Interpersonal Needs Questionnaire, PROMIS-Depression: The Patient-Reported Outcomes Measurement Information System Emotional Distress – Depression – Short Form FSII: Frequency of Suicidal Ideation Inventory.



Figure 3. Power analysis predicting power give total sample size





References

- American Psychiatric Association. (2013). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders* (5th ed.).
- Anestis, M. D., Bagge, C. L., Tull, M. T., & Joiner, T. E. (2011). Clarifying the role of emotion dysregulation in the interpersonal-psychological theory of suicidal behavior in an undergraduate sample. *J Psychiatr Res*, 45(5), 603-611. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2010.10.013
- Ashworth, D. K., Sletten, T. L., Junge, M., Simpson, K., Clarke, D., Cunnington, D., & Rajaratnam, S. M. (2015). A randomized controlled trial of cognitive behavioral therapy for insomnia: An effective treatment for comorbid insomnia and depression. *J Couns Psychol*, 62(2), 115-123. https://doi.org/10.1037/cou0000059
- Barraclough, B. M., & Pallis, D. J. (1975). Depression followed by suicide: A comparison of depressed suicides with living depressives. *Psychological Medicine*, 5(1), 55-61. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291700007212
- Barzilay, S., Feldman, D., Snir, A., Apter, A., Carli, V., Hoven, C. W., Wasserman, C.,
 Sarchiapone, M., & Wasserman, D. (2015). The interpersonal theory of suicide and adolescent suicidal behavior. *J Affect Disord*, *183*, 68-74.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2015.04.047
- Bastien, C. (2001). Validation of the Insomnia Severity Index as an outcome measure for insomnia research. *Sleep Medicine*, 2(4), 297-307. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1389-9457(00)00065-4

- Becker, S. P., Dvorsky, M. R., Holdaway, A. S., & Luebbe, A. M. (2018). Sleep problems and suicidal behaviors in college students. *J Psychiatr Res*, 99, 122-128. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2018.01.009
- Benedetti, F., Radaelli, D., Poletti, S., Locatelli, C., Falini, A., Colombo, C., & Smeraldi, E.
 (2011). Opposite effects of suicidality and lithium on gray matter volumes in bipolar depression. *J Affect Disord*, *135*(1-3), 139-147. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2011.07.006
- Bernert, R. A., Kim, J. S., Iwata, N. G., & Perlis, M. L. (2015). Sleep disturbances as an evidence-based suicide risk factor. *Curr Psychiatry Rep*, 17(3), 554. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11920-015-0554-4
- Bernert, R. A., Turvey, C. L., Conwell, Y., & Joiner, T. E., Jr. (2014). Association of poor subjective sleep quality with risk for death by suicide during a 10-year period: A longitudinal, population-based study of late life. *JAMA Psychiatry*, 71(10), 1129-1137. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2014.1126
- Bishop, T. M., Crean, H. F., Hoff, R. A., & Pigeon, W. R. (2019). Suicidal ideation among recently returned veterans and its relationship to insomnia and depression. *Psychiatry Res*, 276, 250-261. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2019.05.019
- Bjorngaard, J. H., Bjerkeset, O., Romundstad, P., & Gunnell, D. (2011). Sleeping problems and suicide in 75,000 Norwegian adults: A 20 year follow-up of the HUNT I study. *Sleep*, 34(9), 1155-1159. https://doi.org/10.5665/SLEEP.1228
- Bozzay, M. L., Karver, M. S., & Verona, E. (2016). Linking insomnia and suicide ideation in college females: The role of socio-cognitive variables and depressive symptoms in suicide risk. J Affect Disord, 199, 106-113. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2016.04.012

- Britton, P. C., McKinney, J. M., Bishop, T. M., Pigeon, W. R., & Hirsch, J. K. (2019). Insomnia and risk for suicidal behavior: A test of a mechanistic transdiagnostic model in veterans. *J Affect Disord*, 245, 412-418. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2018.11.044
- Bryan, C. J., Gonzales, J., Rudd, M. D., Bryan, A. O., Clemans, T. A., Ray-Sannerud, B.,
 Wertenberger, E., Leeson, B., Heron, E. A., Morrow, C. E., & Etienne, N. (2015).
 Depression mediates the relation of insomnia severity with suicide risk in three clinical samples of U.S. military personnel. *Depress Anxiety*, *32*(9), 647-655.
 https://doi.org/10.1002/da.22383
- Buysse, D. J., Reynolds, C. F., Monk, T. H., Berman, S. R., & Kupfer, D. J. (1989). The Pittsburgh sleep quality index: A new instrument for psychiatric practice and research. *Psychiatry Research*, 28(2), 193-213. https://doi.org/10.1016/0165-1781(89)90047-4
- Cao, J., Chen, X., Chen, J., Ai, M., Gan, Y., Wang, W., Lv, Z., Zhang, S., Zhang, S., Wang, S., Kuang, L., & Fang, W. (2016). Resting-state functional MRI of abnormal baseline brain activity in young depressed patients with and without suicidal behavior. *J Affect Disord*, 205, 252-263. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2016.07.002
- Carli, V., Roy, A., Bevilacqua, L., Maggi, S., Cesaro, C., & Sarchiapone, M. (2011). Insomnia and suicidal behaviour in prisoners. *Psychiatry Res*, 185(1-2), 141-144. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2009.10.001
- Carpenter, J. S., & Andrykowski, M. A. (1998). Psychometric evaluation of the Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 45(1), 5-13. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0022-3999(97)00298-5
- Cassidy-Eagle, E., Siebern, A., Unti, L., Glassman, J., & O'Hara, R. (2018). Neuropsychological functioning in older adults with mild cognitive impairment and insomnia randomized to

CBT-I or control group. *Clin Gerontol*, *41*(2), 136-144. https://doi.org/10.1080/07317115.2017.1384777

- Chakravorty, S., Siu, H. Y., Lalley-Chareczko, L., Brown, G. K., Findley, J. C., Perlis, M. L., & Grandner, M. A. (2015). Sleep duration and insomnia symptoms as risk factors for suicidal ideation in a nationally representative sample. *Prim Care Companion CNS Disord*, 17(6). https://doi.org/10.4088/PCC.13m01551
- Chang, E. C., & Chang, O. D. (2016). Development of the Frequency of Suicidal Ideation
 Inventory: Evidence for the validity and reliability of a brief measure of suicidal ideation
 frequency in a college student population. *Cognitive Therapy and Research*, 40(4), 549556. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10608-016-9758-0
- Chellappa, S. L., & Araujo, J. F. (2007). Sleep disorders and suicidal ideation in patients with depressive disorder. *Psychiatry Res*, 153(2), 131-136. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2006.05.007
- Christensen, H., Batterham, P. J., Soubelet, A., & Mackinnon, A. J. (2013). A test of the Interpersonal Theory of Suicide in a large community-based cohort. *J Affect Disord*, 144(3), 225-234. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2012.07.002
- Chu, C., Buchman-Schmitt, J. M., Stanley, I. H., Hom, M. A., Tucker, R. P., Hagan, C. R.,
 Rogers, M. L., Podlogar, M. C., Chiurliza, B., Ringer, F. B., Michaels, M. S., Patros, C.
 H. G., & Joiner, T. E. (2017). The interpersonal theory of suicide: A systematic review and meta-analysis of a decade of cross-national research. *Psychol Bull*, *143*(12), 1313-1345. https://doi.org/10.1037/bul0000123
- Chu, C., Hom, M. A., Rogers, M. L., Ringer, F. B., Hames, J. L., Suh, S., & Joiner, T. E. (2016).Is insomnia lonely? Exploring thwarted belongingness as an explanatory link between

insomnia and suicidal ideation in a sample of South Korean university students. *J Clin Sleep Med*, *12*(5), 647-652. https://doi.org/10.5664/jcsm.5784

- Chu, C., Hom, M. A., Rogers, M. L., Stanley, I. H., Ringer-Moberg, F. B., Podlogar, M. C., Hirsch, J. K., & Joiner, T. E. (2017). Insomnia and suicide-related behaviors: A multistudy investigation of thwarted belongingness as a distinct explanatory factor. *J Affect Disord*, 208, 153-162. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2016.08.065
- Clarke, G., McGlinchey, E. L., Hein, K., Gullion, C. M., Dickerson, J. F., Leo, M. C., & Harvey,
 A. G. (2015). Cognitive-behavioral treatment of insomnia and depression in adolescents:
 A pilot randomized trial. *Behav Res Ther*, 69, 111-118.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2015.04.009
- Cukrowicz, K. C., Otamendi, A., Pinto, J. V., Bernert, R. A., Krakow, B., & Joiner, T. E. (2006). The impact of insomnia and sleep disturbances on depression and suicidality. *Dreaming*, *16*(1), 1-10. https://doi.org/10.1037/1053-0797.16.1.1
- Dai, X. J., Peng, D. C., Gong, H. H., Wan, A. L., Nie, X., Li, H. J., & Wang, Y. X. (2014).
 Altered intrinsic regional brain spontaneous activity and subjective sleep quality in patients with chronic primary insomnia: A resting-state fMRI study. *Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat*, *10*, 2163-2175. https://doi.org/10.2147/NDT.S69681
- Edinger, J. D., Wohlgemuth, W. K., Radtke, R. A., Coffman, C. J., & Carney, C. E. (2007).
 Dose-response effects of cognitive-behavioral insomnia therapy: A randomized clinical trial. *Sleep*, *30*(2), 203-212. https://doi.org/10.1093/sleep/30.2.203
- Ferentinos, P., Porichi, E., Christodoulou, C., Dikeos, D., Papageorgiou, C., & Douzenis, A. (2016). Sleep disturbance as a proximal predictor of suicidal intent in recently hospitalized attempters. *Sleep Med*, 19, 1-7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sleep.2015.10.021

- Fisher, K., Houtsma, C., Assavedo, B. L., Green, B. A., & Anestis, M. D. (2017). Agitation as a moderator of the relationship between insomnia and current suicidal ideation in the military. *Arch Suicide Res*, 21(4), 531-543. https://doi.org/10.1080/13811118.2016.1193077
- Franic, T., Kralj, Z., Marcinko, D., Knez, R., & Kardum, G. (2014). Suicidal ideations and sleeprelated problems in early adolescence. *Early Interv Psychiatry*, 8(2), 155-162.

https://doi.org/10.1111/eip.12035

- Franklin, J. C., Ribeiro, J. D., Fox, K. R., Bentley, K. H., Kleiman, E. M., Huang, X., Musacchio, K. M., Jaroszewski, A. C., Chang, B. P., & Nock, M. K. (2017). Risk factors for suicidal thoughts and behaviors: A meta-analysis of 50 years of research. *Psychol Bull*, 143(2), 187-232. https://doi.org/10.1037/bul0000084
- Fujino, Y., Mizoue, T., Tokui, N., & Yoshimura, T. (2005). Prospective cohort study of stress, life satisfaction, self-rated health, insomnia, and suicide death in Japan. *Suicide and Life-Threatening Behavior*, 35(2), 227-237.
- Giakoumatos, C. I., Tandon, N., Shah, J., Mathew, I. T., Brady, R. O., Clementz, B. A., Pearlson,
 G. D., Thaker, G. K., Tamminga, C. A., Sweeney, J. A., & Keshavan, M. S. (2013). Are structural brain abnormalities associated with suicidal behavior in patients with psychotic disorders? *J Psychiatr Res*, 47(10), 1389-1395.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2013.06.011

Goldstein, T. R., Bridge, J. A., & Brent, D. A. (2008). Sleep disturbance preceding completed suicide in adolescents. *J Consult Clin Psychol*, 76(1), 84-91. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.76.1.84

- Gratz, K. L., & Roemer, L. (2004). Multidimensional assessment of emotion regulation and dysregulation: Development, factor structure, and initial validation of the Difficulties in Emotion Regulation Scale. *Journal of Psychopathology and Behavioral Assessment*, 26(1), 41-54. https://doi.org/10.1023/b:Joba.0000007455.08539.94
- Green, M. J., Cahill, C. M., & Malhi, G. S. (2007). The cognitive and neurophysiological basis of emotion dysregulation in bipolar disorder. *J Affect Disord*, 103(1-3), 29-42. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2007.01.024
- Guo, L., Xu, Y., Deng, J., Huang, J., Huang, G., Gao, X., Li, P., Wu, H., Pan, S., Zhang, W. H., & Lu, C. (2017). Association between sleep duration, suicidal ideation, and suicidal attempts among Chinese adolescents: The moderating role of depressive symptoms. *J Affect Disord*, 208, 355-362. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2016.10.004
- Harmer, B., Lee, S., Duong, T. V. H., & Saadabadi, A. (2021). Suicidal Ideation. In *StatPearls*. StatPearls Publishing.
- Hatkevich, C., Penner, F., & Sharp, C. (2019). Difficulties in emotion regulation and suicide ideation and attempt in adolescent inpatients. *Psychiatry Res*, 271, 230-238. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2018.11.038
- Hedegaard, H., Curtin, S. C., & Warner, M. (2020). Increase in Suicide Mortality in the United States, 1999–2018. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/products/databriefs/db362.htm</u>
- Heffer, T., & Willoughby, T. (2018). The role of emotion dysregulation: A longitudinal investigation of the interpersonal theory of suicide. *Psychiatry Res, 260*, 379-383. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2017.11.075

- Hom, M. A., Chu, C., Schneider, M. E., Lim, I. C., Hirsch, J. K., Gutierrez, P. M., & Joiner, T. E. (2017). Thwarted belongingness as an explanatory link between insomnia symptoms and suicidal ideation: Findings from three samples of military service members and veterans. *J Affect Disord*, 209, 114-123. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2016.11.032
- Hom, M. A., Stanley, I. H., Chu, C., Sanabria, M. M., Christensen, K., Albury, E. A., Rogers, M. L., & Joiner, T. E. (2019). A longitudinal study of psychological factors as mediators of the relationship between insomnia symptoms and suicidal ideation among young adults. *J Clin Sleep Med*, 15(1), 55-63. https://doi.org/10.5664/jcsm.7570
- Horn, N. R., Dolan, M., Elliott, R., Deakin, J. F. W., & Woodruff, P. W. R. (2003). Response inhibition and impulsivity: An fMRI study. *Neuropsychologia*, 41(14), 1959-1966. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0028-3932(03)00077-0
- Hwang, J. P., Lee, T. W., Tsai, S. J., Chen, T. J., Yang, C. H., Lirng, J. F., & Tsai, C. F. (2010). Cortical and subcortical abnormalities in late-onset depression with history of suicide attempts investigated with MRI and voxel-based morphometry. *J Geriatr Psychiatry Neurol*, 23(3), 171-184. https://doi.org/10.1177/0891988710363713
- Jacobs, G. D., Pace-Schott, E. F., Stickgold, R., & Otto, M. W. (2004). Cognitive behavior therapy and pharmacotherapy for insomnia: A randomized controlled trial and direct comparison. *Arch Intern Med*, 164(17), 1888-1896. https://doi.org/10.1001/archinte.164.17.1888

Joiner, T. (2005). Why people die by suicide. Harvard University Press.

Jollant, F., Lawrence, N. L., Olie, E., Guillaume, S., & Courtet, P. (2011). The suicidal mind and brain: A review of neuropsychological and neuroimaging studies. *World J Biol Psychiatry*, 12(5), 319-339. https://doi.org/10.3109/15622975.2011.556200

- Kaplan, K. A., Plante, D. T., Cook, J. D., & Harvey, A. G. (2019). Development and validation of the Hypersomnia Severity Index (HSI): A measure to assess hypersomnia severity and impairment in psychiatric disorders. *Psychiatry Research*, 281, 112547.
- Kay, D. B., Dombrovski, A. Y., Buysse, D. J., Reynolds, C. F., Begley, A., & Szanto, K. (2016). Insomnia is associated with suicide attempt in middle-aged and older adults with depression. *Int Psychogeriatr*, 28(4), 613-619. https://doi.org/10.1017/S104161021500174X
- Kay, D. B., Karim, H. T., Soehner, A. M., Hasler, B. P., Wilckens, K. A., James, J. A.,
 Aizenstein, H. J., Price, J. C., Rosario, B. L., Kupfer, D. J., Germain, A., Hall, M. H.,
 Franzen, P. L., Nofzinger, E. A., & Buysse, D. J. (2016). Sleep-wake differences in
 relative regional cerebral metabolic rate for glucose among patients with insomnia
 compared with good sleepers. *Sleep*, *39*(10), 1779-1794.
 https://doi.org/10.5665/sleep.6154
- Kearns, J. C., Coppersmith, D. D. L., Santee, A. C., Insel, C., Pigeon, W. R., & Glenn, C. R. (2018). Sleep problems and suicide risk in youth: A systematic review, developmental framework, and implications for hospital treatment. *Gen Hosp Psychiatry*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.genhosppsych.2018.09.011
- Kees, J., Berry, C., Burton, S., & Sheehan, K. (2017). An analysis of data quality: professional panels, student subject pools, and Amazon's Mechanical Turk. *Journal of Advertising*, 46(1), 141-155. https://doi.org/10.1080/00913367.2016.1269304
- Kelly, W. E., & Mathe, J. R. (2019). A brief self-report measure for frequent distressing nightmares: The Nightmare Experience Scale (NExS). *Dreaming*, 29(2), 180-195. https://doi.org/10.1037/drm0000106

- Krakow, B., Ribeiro, J. D., Ulibarri, V. A., Krakow, J., & Joiner, T. E., Jr. (2011). Sleep disturbances and suicidal ideation in sleep medical center patients. *J Affect Disord*, *131*(1-3), 422-427. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2010.12.001
- Lanius, R. A., Williamson, P. C., Hopper, J., Densmore, M., Boksman, K., Gupta, M. A., Neufeld, R. W. J., Gati, J. S., & Menon, R. S. (2003). Recall of emotional states in posttraumatic stress disorder: An fMRI investigation. *Biological Psychiatry*, 53(3), 204-210. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0006-3223(02)01466-x
- Li, Y., Wang, E., Zhang, H., Dou, S., Liu, L., Tong, L., Lei, Y., Wang, M., Xu, J., Shi, D., & Zhang, Q. (2014). Functional connectivity changes between parietal and prefrontal cortices in primary insomnia patients: Evidence from resting-state fMRI. *Eur J Med Res*, *19*, 32. https://doi.org/10.1186/2047-783X-19-32
- Lin, H. T., Lai, C. H., Perng, H. J., Chung, C. H., Wang, C. C., Chen, W. L., & Chien, W. C. (2018). Insomnia as an independent predictor of suicide attempts: A nationwide population-based retrospective cohort study. *BMC Psychiatry*, *18*(1), 117. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12888-018-1702-2
- Manber, R., Bernert, R. A., Suh, S., Nowakowski, S., Siebern, A. T., & Ong, J. C. (2011). CBT for insomnia in patients with high and low depressive symptom severity: Adherence and clinical outcomes. *J Clin Sleep Med*, 7(6), 645-652. https://doi.org/10.5664/jcsm.1472
- Maxwell, S. E., & Cole, D. A. (2007). Bias in cross-sectional analyses of longitudinal mediation. *Psychol Methods*, *12*(1), 23-44. https://doi.org/10.1037/1082-989X.12.1.23
- McCall, W. V., Batson, N., Webster, M., Case, L. D., Joshi, I., Derreberry, T., McDonough, A.,& Farris, S. R. (2013). Nightmares and dysfunctional beliefs about sleep mediate the

effect of insomnia symptoms on suicidal ideation. *J Clin Sleep Med*, *9*(2), 135-140. https://doi.org/10.5664/jcsm.2408

- McCall, W. V., Blocker, J. N., D'Agostino, R., Jr., Kimball, J., Boggs, N., Lasater, B., & Rosenquist, P. B. (2010). Insomnia severity is an indicator of suicidal ideation during a depression clinical trial. *Sleep Med*, *11*(9), 822-827.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sleep.2010.04.004
- Miranda, R., Ortin, A., Scott, M., & Shaffer, D. (2014). Characteristics of suicidal ideation that predict the transition to future suicide attempts in adolescents. *J Child Psychol Psychiatry*, 55(11), 1288-1296. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcpp.12245
- Mochcovitch, M. D., da Rocha Freire, R. C., Garcia, R. F., & Nardi, A. E. (2014). A systematic review of fMRI studies in generalized anxiety disorder: Evaluating its neural and cognitive basis. *J Affect Disord*, 167, 336-342. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2014.06.041
- Monkul, E. S., Hatch, J. P., Nicoletti, M. A., Spence, S., Brambilla, P., Lacerda, A. L., Sassi, R.
 B., Mallinger, A. G., Keshavan, M. S., & Soares, J. C. (2007). Fronto-limbic brain structures in suicidal and non-suicidal female patients with major depressive disorder. *Mol Psychiatry*, 12(4), 360-366. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.mp.4001919
- Morin, C. M., Colecchi, C., Stone, J., Sood, R., & Brink, D. (1999). Behavioral and pharmacological therapies for late-life insomnia: A randomized controlled trial. *JAMA*, 281(11), 991-999. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.281.11.991
- Morin, C. M., Belleville, G., Belanger, L., & Ivers, H. (2011). The Insomnia Severity Index:
 Psychometric indicators to detect insomnia cases and evaluate treatment response. *Sleep*, 34(5), 601-608. https://doi.org/10.1093/sleep/34.5.601

- Nadorff, M. R., Anestis, M. D., Nazem, S., Claire Harris, H., & Samuel Winer, E. (2014). Sleep disorders and the interpersonal-psychological theory of suicide: Independent pathways to suicidality? J Affect Disord, 152-154, 505-512. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2013.10.011
- Nadorff, M. R., Fiske, A., Sperry, J. A., Petts, R., & Gregg, J. J. (2013). Insomnia symptoms, nightmares, and suicidal ideation in older adults. *J Gerontol B Psychol Sci Soc Sci*, 68(2), 145-152. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/gbs061
- National Institute of Mental Health. (2021). *Frequently Asked Questions About Suicide*. <u>https://www.nimh.nih.gov/health/publications/suicide-faq/#pub13</u>
- Neacsiu, A. D., Fang, C. M., Rodriguez, M., & Rosenthal, M. Z. (2018). Suicidal behavior and problems with emotion regulation. *Suicide Life Threat Behav*, 48(1), 52-74. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/sltb.12335</u>
- Neacsiu, A. D., Rizvi, S. L., & Linehan, M. M. (2010). Dialectical behavior therapy skills use as a mediator and outcome of treatment for borderline personality disorder. *Behav Res Ther*, 48(9), 832-839. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2010.05.017
- Nock, M. K., Borges, G., Bromet, E. J., Alonso, J., Angermeyer, M., Beautrais, A., Bruffaerts, R., Chiu, W. T., De Girolamo, G., & Gluzman, S. (2008). Cross-national prevalence and risk factors for suicidal ideation, plans and attempts. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, *192*(2), 98-105.
- Okajima, I., Komada, Y., & Inoue, Y. (2011). A meta-analysis on the treatment effectiveness of cognitive behavioral therapy for primary insomnia. *Sleep and Biological Rhythms*, 9(1), 24-34. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1479-8425.2010.00481.x
- Omvik, S., Sivertsen, B., Pallesen, S., Bjorvatn, B., Havik, O. E., & Nordhus, I. H. (2008). Daytime functioning in older patients suffering from chronic insomnia: Treatment

outcome in a randomized controlled trial comparing CBT with Zopiclone. *Behav Res Ther*, *46*(5), 623-641. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2008.02.013

- Pan, L. A., Batezati-Alves, S. C., Almeida, J. R., Segreti, A., Akkal, D., Hassel, S., Lakdawala, S., Brent, D. A., & Phillips, M. L. (2011). Dissociable patterns of neural activity during response inhibition in depressed adolescents with and without suicidal behavior. *J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry*, 50(6), 602-611 e603. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaac.2011.03.018
- Pan, L. A., Hassel, S., Segreti, A. M., Nau, S. A., Brent, D. A., & Phillips, M. L. (2013).
 Differential patterns of activity and functional connectivity in emotion processing neural circuitry to angry and happy faces in adolescents with and without suicide attempt. *Psychol Med*, 43(10), 2129-2142. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291712002966
- Patton, J. H., Stanford, M. S., & Barratt, E. S. (1995). Factor structure of the Barratt Impulsiveness Scale. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 51(6), 768-774. https://doi.org/10.1002/1097-4679(199511)51:6<768::Aid-jclp2270510607>3.0.Co;2-1
- Peng, H., Wu, K., Li, J., Qi, H., Guo, S., Chi, M., Wu, X., Guo, Y., Yang, Y., & Ning, Y. (2014). Increased suicide attempts in young depressed patients with abnormal temporal-parietallimbic gray matter volume. *J Affect Disord*, *165*, 69-73. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2014.04.046
- Pigeon, W. R., Pinquart, M., & Conner, K. (2012). Meta-analysis of sleep disturbance and suicidal thoughts and behaviors. *J Clin Psychiatry*, 73(9), e1160-1167. https://doi.org/10.4088/JCP.11r07586
- Pilkonis, P. A., Choi, S. W., Reise, S. P., Stover, A. M., Riley, W. T., Cella, D., & Group, P. C.(2011). Item banks for measuring emotional distress from the Patient-Reported Outcomes

Measurement Information System (PROMIS): Depression, anxiety, and anger.

Assessment, 18(3), 263-283. https://doi.org/10.1177/1073191111411667

- Pompili, M., Innamorati, M., Forte, A., Longo, L., Mazzetta, C., Erbuto, D., Ricci, F., Palermo, M., Stefani, H., Seretti, M. E., Lamis, D. A., Perna, G., Serafini, G., Amore, M., & Girardi, P. (2013). Insomnia as a predictor of high-lethality suicide attempts. *Int J Clin Pract, 67*(12), 1311-1316. https://doi.org/10.1111/ijcp.12211
- Porras-Segovia, A., Perez-Rodriguez, M. M., Lopez-Esteban, P., Courtet, P., Barrigon, M. M., Lopez-Castroman, J., Cervilla, J. A., & Baca-Garcia, E. (2019). Contribution of sleep deprivation to suicidal behaviour: A systematic review. *Sleep Med Rev*, 44, 37-47. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smrv.2018.12.005
- Posner, K., Brown, G. K., Stanley, B., Brent, D. A., Yershova, K. V., Oquendo, M. A., Currier, G. W., Melvin, G. A., Greenhill, L., Shen, S., & Mann, J. J. (2011). The Columbia-Suicide Severity Rating Scale: Initial validity and internal consistency findings from three multisite studies with adolescents and adults. *Am J Psychiatry*, *168*(12), 1266-1277. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.2011.10111704
- Rajappa, K., Gallagher, M., & Miranda, R. (2011). Emotion dysregulation and vulnerability to suicidal ideation and attempts. *Cognitive Therapy and Research*, 36(6), 833-839. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10608-011-9419-2
- Ribeiro, J. D., Pease, J. L., Gutierrez, P. M., Silva, C., Bernert, R. A., Rudd, M. D., & Joiner, T. E., Jr. (2012). Sleep problems outperform depression and hopelessness as cross-sectional and longitudinal predictors of suicidal ideation and behavior in young adults in the military. *J Affect Disord*, *136*(3), 743-750. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2011.09.049

- Ribeiro, J. D., Witte, T. K., Van Orden, K. A., Selby, E. A., Gordon, K. H., Bender, T. W., & Joiner, T. E., Jr. (2014). Fearlessness about death: The psychometric properties and construct validity of the revision to the acquired capability for suicide scale. *Psychol Assess*, 26(1), 115-126. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0034858
- Rossler, W., Angst, J., Ajdacic-Gross, V., Haker, H., Berrouiguet, S., Ujeyl, M., Glozier, N., & Hengartner, M. P. (2018). Sleep disturbances and suicidality-A longitudinal analysis from a representative community study over 30 years. *Front Psychiatry*, 9, 320. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00320
- Roth, T. (2007). Insomnia: Definition, prevalence, etiology, and consequences. *J Clin Sleep Med*, *3*(5 Suppl), S7-10. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17824495
- Russell, K., Rasmussen, S., & Hunter, S. C. (2018). Insomnia and nightmares as markers of risk for suicidal ideation in young people: Investigating the role of defeat and entrapment. J *Clin Sleep Med*, 14(5), 775-784. https://doi.org/10.5664/jcsm.7104
- Sarkinaite, M., Gleizniene, R., Adomaitiene, V., Dambrauskiene, K., Raskauskiene, N., & Steibliene, V. (2021). Volumetric MRI analysis of brain structures in patients with history of first and repeated suicide attempts: A cross sectional study. *Diagnostics* (*Basel*), 11(3). https://doi.org/10.3390/diagnostics11030488
- Schalet, B. D., Pilkonis, P. A., Yu, L., Dodds, N., Johnston, K. L., Yount, S., Riley, W., & Cella, D. (2016). Clinical validity of PROMIS Depression, Anxiety, and Anger across diverse clinical samples. *J Clin Epidemiol*, *73*, 119-127. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclinepi.2015.08.036

- Shapiro, D. N., Chandler, J., & Mueller, P. A. (2013). Using Mechanical Turk to study clinical populations. *Clinical Psychological Science*, 1(2), 213-220. https://doi.org/10.1177/2167702612469015
- Shu, Y., Kuang, L., Huang, Q., & He, L. (2020). Fractional amplitude of low-frequency fluctuation (fALFF) alterations in young depressed patients with suicide attempts after cognitive behavioral therapy and antidepressant medication cotherapy: A resting-state fMRI study. J Affect Disord, 276, 822-828. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2020.07.038
- Simmons, Z., Burlingame, G., Korbanka, J., Eastman, K., Thomas, D., Christensen, J., Jenson,
 M., Nadorff, M. R., & Kay, D. B. (2021). Insomnia symptom severity is associated with
 increased suicidality and death by suicide in a sample of patients with psychiatric
 disorders. *Sleep*, 44(7). https://doi.org/10.1093/sleep/zsab032
- Simmons, Z., Erickson, L. D., Hedges, D., & Kay, D. B. (2020). Insomnia is associated with frequency of suicidal ideation independent of depression: A replication and extension of findings from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, 11(960). https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2020.561564
- Sivertsen, B., Omvik, S., Pallesen, S., Bjorvatn, B., Havik, O. E., Kvale, G., Nielsen, G. H., & Nordhus, I. H. (2006). Cognitive behavioral therapy vs zopiclone for treatment of chronic primary insomnia in older adults: A randomized controlled trial. *JAMA*, 295(24), 2851-2858. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.295.24.2851
- Soloff, P. H., Abraham, K., Burgess, A., Ramaseshan, K., Chowdury, A., & Diwadkar, V. A. (2017). Impulsivity and aggression mediate regional brain responses in borderline personality disorder: An fMRI study. *Psychiatry Res Neuroimaging*, 260, 76-85. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pscychresns.2016.12.009

- Soloff, P. H., Pruitt, P., Sharma, M., Radwan, J., White, R., & Diwadkar, V. A. (2012).
 Structural brain abnormalities and suicidal behavior in borderline personality disorder. J Psychiatr Res, 46(4), 516-525. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2012.01.003
- Son, Y. D., Kang, J. M., Cho, S. J., Lee, J. S., Hwang, H. Y., & Kang, S. G. (2018). fMRI brain activation in patients with insomnia disorder during a working memory task. *Sleep Breath*, 22(2), 487-493. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11325-017-1575-5
- Sprouse, J. (2011). A validation of Amazon Mechanical Turk for the collection of acceptability judgments in linguistic theory. *Behav Res Methods*, 43(1), 155-167. https://doi.org/10.3758/s13428-010-0039-7
- Stanford, M. S., Mathias, C. W., Dougherty, D. M., Lake, S. L., Anderson, N. E., & Patton, J. H. (2009). Fifty years of the Barratt Impulsiveness Scale: An update and review. *Personality* and Individual Differences, 47(5), 385-395. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2009.04.008
- Steinan, M. K., Krane-Gartiser, K., Langsrud, K., Sand, T., Kallestad, H., & Morken, G. (2014). Cognitive behavioral therapy for insomnia in euthymic bipolar disorder: Study protocol for a randomized controlled trial. *Trials*, *15*, 24. https://doi.org/10.1186/1745-6215-15-24
- Trockel, M., Karlin, B. E., Taylor, C. B., Brown, G. K., & Manber, R. (2015). Effects of cognitive behavioral therapy for insomnia on suicidal ideation in veterans. *Sleep*, 38(2), 259-265. https://doi.org/10.5665/sleep.4410
- van Heeringen, K., Bijttebier, S., Desmyter, S., Vervaet, M., & Baeken, C. (2014). Is there a neuroanatomical basis of the vulnerability to suicidal behavior? A coordinate-based metaanalysis of structural and functional MRI studies. *Front Hum Neurosci*, 8, 824. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2014.00824

- van Heeringen, C., Bijttebier, S., & Godfrin, K. (2011). Suicidal brains: A review of functional and structural brain studies in association with suicidal behaviour. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev, 35*(3), 688-698. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2010.08.007
- Van Orden, K. A., Cukrowicz, K. C., Witte, T. K., & Joiner, T. E. (2012). Thwarted belongingness and perceived burdensomeness: Construct validity and psychometric properties of the Interpersonal Needs Questionnaire. *Psychol Assess*, 24(1), 197-215. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0025358
- Van Orden, K. A., Lynam, M. E., Hollar, D., & Joiner, T. E. (2006). Perceived burdensomeness as an indicator of suicidal symptoms. *Cognitive Therapy and Research*, 30(4), 457-467. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10608-006-9057-2
- Van Orden, K. A., Witte, T. K., Cukrowicz, K. C., Braithwaite, S. R., Selby, E. A., & Joiner, T. E., Jr. (2010). The interpersonal theory of suicide. *Psychol Rev*, 117(2), 575-600. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0018697
- Van Orden, K. A., Witte, T. K., Gordon, K. H., Bender, T. W., & Joiner, T. E., Jr. (2008). Suicidal desire and the capability for suicide: Tests of the interpersonal-psychological theory of suicidal behavior among adults. *J Consult Clin Psychol*, 76(1), 72-83. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.76.1.72
- Van Someren, E. J. W. (2021). Brain mechanisms of insomnia: New perspectives on causes and consequences. *Physiol Rev*, 101(3), 995-1046. https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.00046.2019
- van Straten, A., Emmelkamp, J., de Wit, J., Lancee, J., Andersson, G., van Someren, E. J., & Cuijpers, P. (2014). Guided internet-delivered cognitive behavioural treatment for

insomnia: A randomized trial. Psychol Med, 44(7), 1521-1532.

https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291713002249

- Wagner, G., Koch, K., Schachtzabel, C., Schultz, C. C., Sauer, H., & Schlosser, R. G. (2011). Structural brain alterations in patients with major depressive disorder and high risk for suicide: Evidence for a distinct neurobiological entity? *Neuroimage*, 54(2), 1607-1614. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2010.08.082
- Ward-Ciesielski, E. F., Winer, E. S., Drapeau, C. W., & Nadorff, M. R. (2018). Examining components of emotion regulation in relation to sleep problems and suicide risk. *J Affect Disord*, 241, 41-48. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2018.07.065
- Wittchen, H. U., Jacobi, F., Rehm, J., Gustavsson, A., Svensson, M., Jonsson, B., Olesen, J.,
 Allgulander, C., Alonso, J., Faravelli, C., Fratiglioni, L., Jennum, P., Lieb, R., Maercker,
 A., van Os, J., Preisig, M., Salvador-Carulla, L., Simon, R., & Steinhausen, H. C. (2011).
 The size and burden of mental disorders and other disorders of the brain in Europe 2010. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol*, *21*(9), 655-679.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.euroneuro.2011.07.018

- Wong, M. M., Brower, K. J., & Craun, E. A. (2016). Insomnia symptoms and suicidality in the National Comorbidity Survey - Adolescent Supplement. J Psychiatr Res, 81, 1-8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2016.06.004
- Woosley, J. A., Lichstein, K. L., Taylor, D. J., Riedel, B. W., & Bush, A. J. (2014). Hopelessness mediates the relation between insomnia and suicidal ideation. *J Clin Sleep Med*, 10(11), 1223-1230. https://doi.org/10.5664/jcsm.4208

- Woosley, J. A., Lichstein, K. L., Taylor, D. J., Riedel, B. W., & Bush, A. J. (2016). Insomnia complaint versus sleep diary parameters: Predictions of suicidal ideation. *Suicide Life Threat Behav*, 46(1), 88-95. https://doi.org/10.1111/sltb.12173
- Woznica, A. A., Carney, C. E., Kuo, J. R., & Moss, T. G. (2015). The insomnia and suicide link: Toward an enhanced understanding of this relationship. *Sleep Med Rev*, 22, 37-46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smrv.2014.10.004
- Yang, B., & Lester, D. (2007). Recalculating the economic cost of suicide. *Death Studies*, *31*(4), 351-361.
- Zullo, L., Horton, S., Eaddy, M., King, J., Hughes, J., Diederich, A., Kennard, B., Emslie, G., & Stewart, S. (2017). Adolescent insomnia, suicide risk, and the interpersonal theory of suicide. *Psychiatry Res*, 257, 242-248. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2017.07.054
- Zuromski, K. L., Cero, I., & Witte, T. K. (2017). Insomnia symptoms drive changes in suicide ideation: A latent difference score model of community adults over a brief interval. J Abnorm Psychol, 126(6), 739-749. https://doi.org/10.1037/abn0000282